The Haitian-Dominican	Contradiction:	Migration and	Develonmer	nt in the	Dominican R	tenublic
The Haitian Dominican	Communication.	mingration and	Developine	16 111 6116	Dominican i	cpuone

by

Hillary Geneau

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2017

© Copyright by Hillary Geneau, 2017

DEDICATION PAGE

This thesis is dedicated to the people who let me into their communities and homes in the Dominican Republic. I hope this thesis does their stories justice.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED	viii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
This Thesis	5
Migration	7
Development	10
Development and Migration	11
Outline	15
CHAPTER 2 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW	17
Introduction	17
Historical Overview of the Dominican People and Migra	ition17
Emigration identity	19
History with Haiti	20
Perceptions of Migration	24
Role of the nation.	27
Multiculturalism	29
Migration Definitions	30
The citizenship conundrum	34
Debates on Economic Effects	36
South-South migration effects	39
Conclusion	39
CHAPTER 3 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	41
Introduction	41
Migration and North and South	41
Relative deprivation theory	43

Social Theory	44
Realistic group conflict theory and social identity theory	46
Political Economy	47
Host country perspective	49
Domestic citizens	50
The Minority Group	53
Difference between Developed and Developing Countries	54
Problems with Political Economy	56
Other Theories	56
Classical Economic Analysis.	56
Global power and transnational perspectives	58
Political Economy and the Connection to this Research Project	59
Conclusion	59
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND FINDINGS	61
Introduction	61
Methods	
Participants	62
Table of participants	62
Logistical and Methodological challenges/obstacles	
Time of the study	64
Description of results	65
What are your perceptions of migration in general?	65
Do you have family overseas?	70
What are your interactions with people of Haitian descent?	71
What is the biggest difficulty of life here or obstacle to development	? 72
Analysis	73
Conclusion	77
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION	79
Introduction	
Analysis of Results and Conclusions	
Theoretical Conclusions	

85
85
86
87
89
91
93
106

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Table of participants		61
---------	-----------------------	--	----

ABSTRACT

This thesis explores the connection between migration and development in the Dominican Republic, specifically in regards to people of Haitian descent there. To examine the connection, perceptions held by Dominican citizens were researched. The historical context of the island and the citizenship issue are imperative to understand the situation of people of Haitians in the Dominican Republic, since this represents a unique situation involving movement from one developing country to another. Social theories were used to examine the perceptions of this movement held by Dominicans. These were used to analyze how Dominicans create their perceptions of others, and how these perceptions may possibly be changed. A political economy framework is used to review the connection between perceptions of migration and perceptions of development. This broad framework allows political and economic aspects of the situation to be considered in tandem. It can also allow for comparisons between different incidences of migration, such as to understand similarities and differences between movement from developing countries to developed countries. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with Dominicans to garner these perceptions, in both the rural and urban setting. The conclusions based on the research conducted for this thesis, contrary to most other research in the field, is that Dominicans view migration in the Dominican Republic positively and do not see a conflict between immigration and development of their country.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

ESS European Social Survey

GCIM Global Commission on International Migration

GFMD Global Forum for Migration and Development

GNI Gross National Income

HDI Human Development Index

ILO International Labour Organization

IOM International Organization for Migration

NNM North-North Migration

NSM North-South Migration

OBMICA Centro para la Observación Migratoria y el Desarollo Social en el Caribe

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

PNRE Plan Nacional de Regularización de Extranjeros/ascen Situación Migratoria

Irregular

RD Dominican Pesos

SNM South-North Migration

SSM South-South Migration

UN United Nations

UNDESA United Nations Department of Economic and Social

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

WESP World Economic Situation and Prospects

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to everyone who has put up with me as I wrote this thesis. Many thanks go to my family and friends for nodding along as I grumbled about the writing process. Special mention goes to Russell for being my supportive, but mostly distracting, writing companion. I could never thank Dr. John Kirk enough for his support and critical eye throughout this process. Special thanks to the entire IDS Department, especially Nicole Drysdale and Theresa Ulicki who were there to help no matter where I was frantically e-mailing them from in the world. I was also very lucky to have an incredible cohort, and I cannot wait to see the amazing things these eight people do.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

People across the world were shocked and dismayed when images of the drowned body of Alan Kurdi were splayed across the news in September 2015. People questioned how this could have been allowed to happen. The reality is that this is the fate of many people across the globe, desperate men and women who find themselves anxiously searching for a new home. If all the stateless people (people who lack citizenship of any country) in the world were to form one nation, that country would be the 19th most populated country in the world. In all there are 72 million people across the globe who are not recognized as being a legal citizen of any country, and this does not include those who left their home country solely to search for a life with better economic conditions (International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, 2012, p. 14). This problem has been recognized by international organizations for over 60 years, and yet little progress has been made. The number of people without citizenship will continue to grow, especially as the world is currently in the throes of a major refugee crisis. This is an important topic as it is impossible to protect the rights of those who are not recognized as citizens.

The issue of statelessness and irregular status, one of many which have arisen from human migrations, can often be pushed to the side due to the fact that there are still many nations struggling to provide for all of their current citizens, especially those at the bottom of the societal ladder. Most people will not argue the position that basic human rights should be guaranteed for all, derived from the 1946 Declaration of Human Rights. There are also a number of other treaties and agreements to ensure the rights of particularly vulnerable groups including the 1951 United Nations (UN) Refugee Convention and the 1990 International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families. However, most citizens and governments are untroubled with denying the simple right of identity to people

across the globe, often to those within their own nation, but most basic human rights cannot be protected if these people are not granted citizenship. This is the reality for millions of stateless people around the world. After World War II the topic of migration, and in particular displaced persons, became important on a global scale, and continues to be an issue of growing importance with thousands fleeing tyrannical regimes and places where war rages. Article 15 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights affirms that "everyone has the right to a nationality and that no one shall be arbitrarily deprived of his nationality nor denied the right to change his nationality" (UN General Assembly, 1948, p. 2). This statement is clear, and in theory is a guiding principle for international governance. This year marks the 60th anniversary of the Convention Relating to the Status of Stateless Peoples, yet many nations have not changed their policies regarding citizenship or immigration processes, nor acted on them.

One of the many examples of a country denying both citizenship and effective immigration policies can be found in the Caribbean, on the island of Hispaniola. The Dominican Republic on the east of the island, and Haiti on the west, have had a tumultuous shared history. In the past, when the two countries were not being conquered by other nations, they were fighting each other for control of the island. There has been continuous movement between the nations, with the majority Haitians often seeking to migrate to the Dominican Republic. At times, too, the migratory flow was exacerbated or limited by government policies.

In 2013 the highest court of the Dominican Republic issued a ruling that made stateless thousands of people who have lived there for generations. The courts passed a judgment which stated that children born after 1929 to foreigners, including those born on Dominican territory, did not, and never had possessed, a right to Dominican citizenship. This action has directly affected people of Haitian descent living in the Dominican Republic, and it possibly left more than 200,000 people stateless (UNHCR, 2015). These numbers are conservative and only

include those that had papers, not the thousands who were living there already with an undocumented status. It also would prevent any more recent arrivals from being welcomed through appropriate channels into the country.

After an international outcry ensued, the government announced a process that would allow Haitian-Dominicans to apply for citizenship. In May 2014 Congress passed a law that would both regularize the legal standing of children of irregular migrants who had birth certificates, and also allow descendants of irregular migrants who never had papers, to become naturalized citizens. However, many have actively resisted registering as foreigners because they claim that they are Dominican by birth, and therefore deserve all the rights that come with it–for example, a naturalized citizen cannot run for high office. This new process requires Haitian-Dominicans who were born in the Dominican Republic to obtain documents from Haiti, as well as seven affidavits, proving that they were from the Dominican Republic in order to be granted two years of residency—and this in what is in fact their own country. The requirements, which are extremely demanding, allowed only a few thousand people to apply before the deadline in June 2015, leaving the vast majority of Dominicans of Haitian descent still with an irregular status or stateless. That process plays an important role in analyzing perceptions of migration and development in the country, which is the focus of this thesis.

While the number of Haitians in the Dominican Republic is widely contested, one generous and often-cited estimate in the media, claims that there are two million stateless Haitians in the country (Kosinski, 2009, 382; Human Rights Watch, 2016; Episcopal News Service, 2015). This comprises almost 20% of the country's population of 10.6 million people. The United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) estimated the number of people with the country of origin being Haiti as 329,281. The Observatorio del Mercado Laboral Dominicano (OMLAD) estimated that the "Haitian population" was 254,337.

This thesis uses the first estimate, as the definition is broader. If someone who was born in the Dominican Republic was asked if they were part of the Haitian population they may deny this because they identify as Dominican. If that same person was asked their country of origin, they may well agree if their parent or grandparent came from Haiti. At the most basic level what has prevented Haitians from obtaining citizenship is an unjust immigration process that denies citizenship to people who have been living in the country for generations. This unjust process, which has prevented them from obtaining citizenship, has various historical roots with diverse tensions at play. Most of the research and recommendations that have come from this area of research have focused on the ontological harms resulting from the denial of admission.

Ontological harm is the deprivation of fundamental human qualities (Parekh, 2014, p. 645).

While this is an essential part of solving the problem, it is unclear whether this can successfully encourage meaningful structural change in order to act in a preventative way.

Thomas Pogge (2010) argued that there is an inherent moral obligation of humanity to aid the marginalized. Governments need to care for everyone in their country, and in turn the people are also individually morally obligated to support one another. His first justification for this belief is that the current social order was created due to immoral historical events which have simultaneously created affluence for some groups and misfortune for others (Pogge, 2001, p. 14). Secondly, he argues that there is biased access to the single natural resource base on which life depends (Pogge, 2001, p. 14). This resource base includes employment, wealth, social services, and all the material aspects of life. This is especially true for people moving across borders, as they do not have the means to obtain education or employment in order to sustain themselves. Finally, life currently exists based on an economic order that perpetuates this fundamental division (Pogge, 2001, p.14), and therefore nothing can help to rectify the resultant harm until this inequality is addressed. For all of these reasons, Pogge insists that everyone is responsible

for the well-being of others. While the effects of irregular status are felt by the Haitian refugees most often at the primary level, the discrimination they face is perpetuated by the federal government through its legislation and actions. Based on Pogge's theory, changing the attitudes of Dominicans could be the foundation for changing legislation.

Citizenship is an integral part of the migration process. Citizenship as a concept has been around for millennia, but its definition and meaning differ across time and space. In order to understand the current issues of migration across the globe, it is important to understand the idea of citizenship in its own right. Citizenship can at once be used to both unify people and exclude others. It involves a two-way relationship: people cannot be recognized fully without citizenship, and nations are not whole without recognizing all of the people within their borders. Some people may claim that the concept of citizenship is losing value, given the continuation of globalization. Understanding the meaning of citizenship, and how it is used as a tool, is, however, essential to this project.

As well, migration has become a central part of the identity of most countries. However, for emerging countries trying to compete in the global market, balancing migration with development can be a difficult task. This is particularly true in the Dominican Republic, which has both a growing economy and longstanding tensions with Haitian migrants, where the two issues may be seen as mutually exclusive. People of Haitian descent in the Dominican Republic have often been denied citizenship, a process which affects their standard of living. This in turn could affect the development of the Dominican Republic as people in the country fall behind, and resources are misallocated due to perceived migration issues.

This Thesis

The purpose of this thesis is to investigate perceptions of migration in the Dominican Republic, and the way in which these perceptions interact with perceptions of development in the country. The main question being asked is: how do Dominicans view migration, and how does this affect their perceptions of development in the Dominican Republic? The scope of this study will be limited to an analysis of the situation in the Dominican Republic. While the issue is inherently linked to issues in other countries, especially within Haiti and other destination countries for Dominicans, this project will focus on perceptions of migration within the Dominican Republic, including both immigrants to the country, and peoples' experiences with emigration. The central problem which this project will address is the denial of citizenship to Haitians, a decision which clearly affects their standard of living and creates tensions in the country, a process which in turn affects the development of the Dominican Republic. As these people are unable to obtain full citizenship, including essential documents, they are unable to break away from the menial labour that they have thus far been forced to undertake. They are also unable to participate in other rights that citizenship is supposed to guarantee, including obtaining education, gaining access to the medical system, and benefiting from social welfare programs.

Through the examination of first-hand interviews conducted in the Dominican Republic and secondary sources, I will examine the current situation. Most research that currently exists about the region tends to focus on racial tensions, or is from biased sources which detail only the most dramatic and violent happenings in local confrontations. This type of research, and particularly the media reports, neglect to delve into the roots of the problem, yet it is crucially important to understand how the situation affects people in the most mundane, basic, day-to-day ways. To answer the research question, the following four central questions were asked:

- 1. What are your perceptions of migration in the Dominican Republic in general?
- 2. What is your experience with emigration from the Dominican Republic?
- 3. What are your interactions with people of Haitian descent?

4. What do you believe is the most important development issue?

This research is important because the borders between nations are changing, often becoming less of a barrier. Migration is also playing a central role in relation to economic policies, and needs to be considered in tandem with development. Not only is transnationalism becoming more prominent, but there are also more and more human rights challenges that put people in a situation where migration is the only option. Indeed, the world is currently facing the worst refugee crisis since the end of the World War II. Over a million people crossed the Mediterranean Sea in 2015 alone, with the number of deaths in the thousands as they fled attempting to find a better life. Migration processes are continually altering, and these need to be understood in order to be able to ensure that basic human needs are being met. In regards to the Dominican Republic, it is important to acknowledge this because the lives of people who have been calling the country home for generations are being disrupted.

I am personally interested in this topic because I saw first-hand the marginalization of Haitians in the Dominican Republic in 2011 during a trip to explore development issues faced by both Dominicans and Haitians in the country. Their images and stories have stayed with me over the past five years. Throughout my undergraduate degree, I examined specific parts of the Dominican Republic in regards to discrimination and race, but I have never examined how integral perceptions of migration and development are to one another.

Migration

Migration has been occurring since the dawn of time. Humans have been on the move for most of their existence, and this is not a new phenomenon. Despite this longstanding history, it is important to remember that "migration is the exception, not the rule" (Castles & Miller, 2009, p. 7). Indeed, the number of people currently living in a place that is not their native land is 244 million, or approximately 3% of the world population (United Nations, 2016).

Despite the long existence of migration, Castles and Miller (2009) believe that there is not much cooperation globally on the matter. One example they give of such a disconnect is that rich, labour-importing countries are unwilling to enforce migrant rights and make concessions that might improve outcomes for countries of origin because that would increase the cost of migrant labour. This is the reality, despite the fact that it was partly globalization that created the conditions for increased migration in two ways. First, we should note the advancement of technology and culture. Secondly, the persisting neoliberal model which has led to vast inequalities between the global north and the global south. This disconnect at the basis of migration studies is only one example of the anomalies of migration.

Studying migration requires considering the issue from a variety of angles. Due to this, the study of migration has been determined to require an interdisciplinary approach. Formerly, considering migration from a silo perspective has led to the failure of policymakers to see migration as a dynamic process (Castle and Miller, 2009). As migration is of an interdisciplinary nature, policies to manage migration need to be flexible and linked to related fields that influence migration patterns. Therefore, a more holistic approach is needed to study the phenomenon. Furthermore, Castles and Miller (2009) explain that migration policy has evolved from being nation-based, and addressing essentially short-term economic and political interests, and now needs to be viewed in the context of broader, more international, if not global, management strategies. These strategies could include employer sanctions, legalization programmes, temporary foreign worker admission programmes, and points systems which seek high-skilled workers while restricting the number of low-skilled workers. The changing global condition and numerous interconnected issues means approaches to migration need to be thoroughly examined.

This is true as the study of migration has its deficiencies. For example, Alarcón (2009) stated that migration studies tend to focus on individuals rather than the family (p. 91). It is an

important facet to consider, as migrants who have access to their usual family structures are potentially more productive, healthier, and better adjusted than those isolated from their families (Alarcón, 2009, p. 91). As well, gender-biased, gender-blind or gender-neutral policies may be hindering the full developmental potential of migration for origin and receiving (Alarcón, 2009, p. 92). This is particularly pertinent as it has been found that there are now comparable numbers of women and men on the move. Furthermore, "special policy consideration of family unit, gender-related needs, and social welfare of migrants and families abroad, as well as families staying behind, can amplify the developmental effects of migration" (Berumen and Calleros, 2010, p. 2). Therefore, not only do migration studies need to be interdisciplinary and robust, they must also be altered to be more attuned to current migration patterns.

One group in particular needs special consideration when studying migration. Much of what people hear in the news currently is about "illegal" migrants, a term that is misleading and should instead be replaced by the term "irregular". In general, an irregular migrant is any person who does not have official recognition in the country in which they live. There is no officially accepted definition of the term, as will be discussed in Chapter Two. Problems of irregularity often arise when there are contradictions between the state and the market, whereby the market signals that migrants are wanted while the state rejects their arrival. To deal with this issue, "governments sometimes use 'crackdowns' on irregular migrants as a way of appeasing public opinion, while tacitly permitting irregular labour migration to meet employer demand" (Castles and Miller, 2009, p. 119). The situation is further complicated by the fact that asylum seekers have to enter in an irregular fashion, only then to apply for a regular status. The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) gives guidelines for differentiating between economic migrants and refugees, a process which would allow for respect of the human rights of both groups, but adherence to these recommendations are often disregarded.

Development

Development studies often examine issues of poverty, social justice, inequality, and social change in a global context. However, this does not mean that development studies cannot be done on a local or inter-level scale. Much work on development can only truly be done through grassroots movements, or through the combination of citizens' actions and government policy. The first mention of development is believed to have been made by Harry Truman in 1949. At the time development was thought to be needed in the period after the end of World War II to help reconstruct devastated nations, move away from colonialist pasts, and prevent the spread of communism. All three of these defining factors were mentioned by Truman in his inaugural speech:

we must embark on a bold new programme for making the benefits of our scientific advances and industrial progress available for the improvement and growth of *underdeveloped* areas...The old imperialism—exploitation for foreign profit — has no place in our plans. What we envisage is a program of development based on the concepts of democratic fair dealing (Harry Truman, inaugural address, January 20, 1949, italics added).

Over time, the definition of development has shifted more towards human development rather than focusing on purely economic gains. Human development is founded on enlarging peoples' choices and can include indicators such as literacy, maternal death rate, or happiness indices.

As with migration studies, development involves research based upon a variety of fields, including political science, sociology, environment and sustainability, and history, to name a few. Also, similar to the question of migration, the study of development requires a vast array of players and actors. For instance, governments dole out international aid, while citizens participate in charity initiatives and, perhaps more importantly, have their own beliefs about

development which may or may not affect legislation. These different aims and definitions can make cohesive progress difficult. Nevertheless, in accordance with the 1986 Declaration on the Right to Development, all people should expect and work towards development, individually and collectively. Article 2.2 states that "all human beings have a responsibility for development, individually and collectively, taking into account the need for full respect for their human rights and fundamental freedoms as well as their duties to the community" (UN General Assembly, 1986). Thus, development should be seen as a right by everyone to be beneficial to all in their community.

Development is not only hard to define, but it is also difficult to measure. This is especially true when dealing with marginalized groups such as migrants, and particularly irregular migrants. Development initiatives are more likely to be successful if they benefit specific, easily identifiable groups. Additionally, the main cause of irregular migration is not disregard of regulations by migrants, but rather the growing inequality between countries and the failure of "states to create adequate migration regimes to meet economic demand" (Castles et al., 2012, p. 130). This illustrates that the connection between development and migration is not purely unilateral or coincidental. Migration does not only influence development, since in turn development factors influence migration. This point will be examined more thoroughly in the following section.

Development and Migration

The Global Commission on International Migration (GCIM) notes the potential benefits of migration for development. Despite the creation of the GCIM in 2003, the convening of the High-Level Dialogue on Migration and Development at the United Nations in 2006, and its follow-up through the annual Global Forum on Migration and Development (GFMD), there has been little global cohesion on migration.

In its early days, development was thought to reduce the need for migration. The idea first emerged in the 1990s, and its influence has wavered ever since. Three reasons for its initial emergence were:

...1) optimism about positive impacts from remittances and other contributions by emigrants to their home countries, 2) concerns about negative impact from the loss of skilled people, and 3) an underlying hope on the part of some major destination countries that accelerated development might slow migration flows from the developing countries toward the North. (Newland, 2007, par. 5)

At the time people asked: can development and development policy help reduce emigration from poorer countries? Contrarily, it is now clear that development can lead to more people having the required resources to migrate. Rather than focusing on decreasing migration, the focus should be on decreasing inequality between developed and developing countries so that migration will occur under better conditions and enrich the experience for both the migrants and communities.

There are many other areas of focus that receive more attention in both areas of study. It can be argued that the greatest influence on development has more to do with global labour markets, private sector practice, and information technology than with migration policies. This line of thought leaves the spheres of migration and development disconnected. Another reason for this disconnect is that often countries of interest for development agencies do not coincide with those of interest to migration agencies. As will be noted as an important point of this thesis, the majority of migration research focuses on movement from developing countries to more developed countries. Organizations may tend to focus on the minority groups this phenomenon creates in developed countries. Some believe that development and migration are even contradictory notions, as the high costs of managing migration means there are less resources to contribute to development. Furthermore, there are few international fora that deal with migration

and development from a practical angle. The focus is instead often on theory, which is unfortunate because practicalities are important, particularly peoples' perceptions of both topics. These beliefs have led to the pessimistic view concerning the connection between development and migration, with some stating "migration and development – nobody believes that anymore" (Massey et al. 1998, p. 260).

Nonetheless, there are still many examples in which migration is an integral component of development initiatives. One such case is that of circular migration, a good example being the relationship between Mauritius and Canada. As part of Mauritius' reform and human resource strategy, official policy encourages migrants to return home with financial and social capital. This model shows how circular migration can be an integral part of national development planning, and bring origin and destination countries together. Circular migration can thus act as a development tool. This process allows migrant-importing countries to meet labour needs in a flexible and orderly way while combining the interests of developing countries in accessing global labour markets, fostering skills transfer, and mitigating the risks of brain drain.

Every GFMD meeting since 2007 has called for more robust data and analysis of the linkages between migration and development. Yet little empirical evidence about where and how the connections between migration and development work at any point in the migration cycle, is available. As Newland (2007) stated:

what is clear is that policy, to be effective, needs to be based on evidence, and that the evidence base for the links between migration and development is still very weak. Public and private institutions will be well advised to make the coming years a period of analysis, data-gathering, experimentation, and evaluation. (par. 31)

Debates on the topic of migration tend to be dominated by those concerned with national borders and security rather than with development. And this, despite the fact that "migration

should be seen not as a threat to state security, but as a result of the human insecurity that arises through global inequality" (Castles & Miller, 2009, p. 145). As Castles and Miller eloquently stated:

Migration has the potential to bring benefits for origin and destination countries and for migrants themselves (UNDP 2009). Human mobility is an integral part of development as articulated by Amartya Sen (1999). For Sen (1999), development represents the "process of expanding the real freedoms that people enjoy" (p. 3). Mobility is a basic freedom and has the potential to lead to greater human capabilities. Reducing migration restrictions and ensuring that people can move safely and legally helps enhance human rights and can also lead to greater economic efficiency and social quality (UNDP 2009). This situates development as much more than economic growth in itself. However, as de Haas (2009) argues: restrictive immigration policies and marginalisation of regular and irregular immigrants do not only involve considerable risk and suffering for the migrants involved, but are also likely to have a negative impact on the poverty and inequality-reducing potential of migration (p. 55)." (p. 134-135)

While it is easy to say that the two spheres of development and migration should be linked, this is easier said than done. For example, it can be difficult to establish a cause-effect relationship between a policy and its outcomes. Indeed, initiatives such as the Millennium Development Goals, Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers, and Official Development Aid Targets clearly have good intentions, but often are not implemented.

Another obstacle to connecting migration and development is that relatively few governments send development officials to GFMD meetings. The only countries that have been doing so consistently are France, Sweden Switzerland, and the Netherlands. Furthermore, a few countries have successfully attacked the issue of migration and development unilaterally, but

have had limited success regarding international collaboration. For these two issues to be taken seriously in tandem, world leaders need to recognize the important effects that migration has on development and vice versa.

Outline

I will begin with a literature review to highlight the key debates and broader discussions that surround this research project. First, I will focus on the literature dealing with the situation in the Dominican Republic specifically. Then I will move on to examine literature on perceptions of migration and important definitions in the field, including the literature on citizenship. I will then review literature on South-South Migration effects, which is integral in the case of the Dominican Republic.

Chapter Three will focus on the theoretical framework of this project. I will first examine theories about the causes of migration, and social theories which help to illustrate how perceptions can be formed. Primarily, I will review political economic theory, and how this can aid in examining perceptions on migration and development in tandem. This will also include a review of the challenges of using political economic theory and alternate theoretical frameworks.

Chapter Four will contain the main findings of the research conducted into the situation of migration in the Dominican Republic. This chapter will include an explanation of the methods that were used and the challenges that were faced during the research phase, before making and analyzing three main conclusions. In the Conclusion, I will review this project and its findings. It will include an examination of future research opportunities, as well as recommendations concerning the situation in the Dominican Republic.

Migrations affects people across the globe, and has since the existence of time. The issues discussed in this thesis are not exclusive to the Dominican Republic, but are apparent in every society. This does not mean, however, that every situation should be treated the same. No

matter the place, the first thing that needs to be understood in order to resolve such issues are the thoughts of the people involved—whether they are officially called citizens or not.

CHAPTER 2 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

This chapter examines some of the key debates concerning the question of migration to the Dominican Republic. I review the literature that touches on the history of the nation and how it came to be a country based upon migration, including its identity as a country with patterns of high emigration. I explore its relationship with Haiti and the way in which perceptions of migration have developed within the nation. Then I analyze what migration means in the context of the situation in the Dominican Republic, and briefly touch on the different types of migration in the country. Lastly, I examine the literature relating to the economic effects of migration, including the Dominican Republic's economic positioning. This is important in order to use a political economic framework. First, an understanding of the historical component is necessary to contextualize the current situation.

Historical Overview of the Dominican People and Migration

The Taíno people, an indigenous population, have inhabited the island of Hispaniola since the 7th century. After the discovery of the New World, the population was decimated by disease from abroad, as was the case with most other indigenous populations in the region. However, some Taíno bloodlines still exist. A census from 1514 showed that 40% of Spanish men in Santo Domingo were married to Taíno women (Ferbel, 2002, p. 4), and there is literature (Guitar, 2012; Martínez Cruzado, 2002) which shows Dominicans today that are still believed to have Taíno ancestry. Hispaniola was the first permanent European settlement in the Americas, and the first seat of the Spanish colonial rule in the New World. Eventually, France took over the island as part of the Peace of Basel treaty signed by Spain. The earliest slave uprising in the region took place in 1801 in Haiti, and the newly-freed Haitians took over the entire island.

In 1808 Santo Domingo was placed back under Spanish rule (Roorda et al., 2014, p. 145). It was not until November 1821 that the Dominican Republic claimed independence from Spain (Roorda et al., 2014, p. 145), but in February 1822 Haiti annexed the eastern side of the island. Some 22 years later the Dominican people gained independence again in the Dominican War of Independence (Roorda et al., 2014, p. 141). It is on this date in February that they celebrate their independence. However, they fell under Spanish colonial rule again, but the Crown was subsequently defeated and did not return to the island in an official capacity after the Dominican War of Restoration in 1865 (Sagas, 1994, para. 6). The United States occupied the island from 1916 to 1924 (Roorda et al., 2014, p. 225). That was the last official international intervention, and the country has been ruled by various internal leaders, some better than others, since then. This history of upheaval provides an interesting foundation for the country and created a diverse population.

One statistic claims that the Dominican population is 73% racially mixed, 16% white, and 11% black (Central Intelligence Agency, 2016), and diversity continues to grow with continued immigration. With the largest economy in Central America and the Caribbean, it attracts immigrants from close by–for example, there are an estimated 32,000 Jamaicans in the country (Joshua Project, 2016). People from other Caribbean islands have historically worked on the sugarcane plantations and the docks. There are some immigrants of Asian descent, largely from China and Japan. Europeans are largely from Spain, Germany, Italy, and Portugal. There is a considerably large Jewish population, which was welcomed by the otherwise jingoistic dictator, Rafael Trujillo. He was the only national leader out of 32 to offer refuge when called upon by the United States in 1938, and created the Dominican Republic Settlement Association (Symanski and Burley, 1973, p. 367). Other people have sought refuge from neighbouring countries. Cuban immigrants and Puerto Ricans fled economic troubles and social unrest

throughout the 19th century and early 1900s. In the 20th century many people from Lebanon, Syria, Palestine, Japan, and South Korea migrated to the country for agricultural opportunities, as both labourers and merchants. Some academics believe that the lighter skin of certain groups helped them integrate better into Dominican society (Howard, 2001, p. 24), which is admired by Dominicans. Due to the nature of the labour and economic booms elsewhere, there were relatively few African slaves in the Dominican Republic in relation to Spanish settlers (Howard, 2001, p. 52). This was because when African slaves were first introduced to the Caribbean in the early 1500s, the main commodity in the Dominican Republic was raising cattle, which required less labour intensive work. As time continued, there was an increase in Haitian labourers in the sugar cane fields, which only became a successful industry in the Dominican Republic in the 1880s. These workers were often sought out by company owners and the government.

Today, the Dominican Republic admits immigrants from a variety of different countries. Of the 262,522 immigrants identified in the 2014 National Labour Force Survey, 213,910 were Haitians, while the remaining 48,612 came from elsewhere (Tejeda, 2015, p. 79). In 2014, 2,635 residence permits were granted, 99.7% of which were temporary and 16 or 0.6% to permanent residences (Tejeda, 2015, p. 86). Of the temporary residences granted, the three largest were for immigrants from Spain (413), USA (368), and Italy (178). Of the permanent residences, the three biggest groups were Italy (6) Peru (4), and Haiti (3) (Tejeda, 2015, p. 86). Given the large Haitian population in the country (329, 281), which is the largest population in the country (compared with the next largest, the United States at 25,814) (UNDESA, 2015), the fact that so few were granted to this group illustrates the importance of the regularization plan which was largely created for them. This program will be examined in more detail below.

Emigration identity.

The Dominican Republic is a country with significant emigration, since approximately 13% of its population live abroad, mainly in the United States, Spain, Venezuela, Italy, and Panama (Tejeda, 2016, p. 68). One of the first times emigration grew significantly was after the assassination of the dictator Trujillo in 1961, as people fearing persecution from his supporters fled. As well, when the United States occupied the island again in 1965, they made it easier for Dominicans to obtain American visas (Morrison and Sinkin, 1982, p. 825). The flood of Dominicans to the United States continued, with migrants being pushed by high unemployment and political repression. Emigration grew with continued economic troubles in the 1980s and the transition was made easier with a settled network, largely in New York. In 2012 there were 1.7 million people of Dominican descent in the United States (Central Intelligence Agency, 2016), a tenth of the Dominican population.

One might think that since most Dominicans have a relative or friend abroad, this would encourage them to create a welcoming community for foreigners. Howard (2001) wrote that "Dominicans often compare their attempts to gain residency in the United States with those of Haitians trying to acquire legal status in the Dominican Republic" (p. 35). Wooding and Moseley-Williams (2004) noted that emigration from the Dominican Republic is significant and therefore gaps need to be filled, and that if they want their people to be accepted elsewhere they need to be accepting themselves (p. 39). This is a complex issue, and must be examined using a transnational lens as "the condition of being a country of origin, transit, and destination imply certain challenges for the governance, including the guarantee of human rights, while presenting opportunities for promoting development of the Dominican Republic and the Caribbean" (Peterozziello & Wooding, 2016, p. 95). Unfortunately, such a view has not been taken at the government level.

History with Haiti

As mentioned in the section on the history of the Dominican Republic, Haiti has played a significant role in the development of the nation—and not just because the two countries share an island. The historical relationship between the two nations is important to take into consideration. Ever since the French colonized Haiti, and the Spanish colonized the Dominican Republic, there has been a significant strain between the two countries. After decolonization, there were different periods of Haitian rule in the Dominican Republic (in 1801, 1805, and 1822), leading to a growing Haitian population in the country with an estimated eight Haitians for every one Dominican. After the end of Haitian occupation, Haitians and other black migrants from British-owned islands faced prejudice, as Dominicans feared losing autonomy once again. Furthermore, the United States' occupation in 1965 led the country to refuse entry to the country "for any race except Caucasian" (Plant, 1987, p. 19). However, despite this stipulation, Haitian labour increased to an estimated 79,000 by 1970 (Plant, 1987, p. 19). These strains came to a head in what has been dubbed the Parsley Massacre in 1937 under Trujillo, in which the Dominican government killed an estimated 15,000 Haitians in six days, claiming that they were an inferior race – and to stop migration (Roorda et. al, 2014, p. 281). Despite the massacre, since that time the Haitian population has continued to grow, from approximately 18,700 in 1950 to 97,100 in 1970 to the 329, 281 today (Cortan, 1976, p. 18), with many entering irregularly or with temporary work permits. The majority entered to work in occupations in deplorable conditions, largely in the agriculture sector. They took on the jobs that not even the poorest Dominicans wanted to do.

Certain incidents saw the Haitian population in the Dominican Republic grow exponentially. One such example was the earthquake in 2010, as the Haitian government was not able to provide adequate social or health conditions, or relief aid. When Haitians first crossed the border to flee the disaster, they were welcomed with aid and resources. The Dominican

government eventually had to admit that they had exhausted their resources to help. However, even after this many of the newcomers did not leave. The problem was made worse with the subsequent epidemic of cholera. The Dominican government, media outlets, and the general population claimed that the disease was caused by the Haitian people, even though it has been proven that the disease was introduced to the area by foreign aid workers. These are considered push factors, which the International Organization for Migration (IOM) defines as causes which drive people to leave their country (such as economic, social, or political problems) (IOM, 2016, para. 24). One pull factor, defined by the IOM (2016) as any factor that attracts a migrant to a destination country (para. 24), for Haitians could have been the fact that at one time anyone who set foot on Dominican soil was granted freedom from slavery, a process which surpassed any other human rights precedence at the time (Howard, 2001, p. x).

As a result, there have been several factors that have contributed to the large population of people with Haitian ancestry, estimated to be around 329, 200. The problem comes from the fact that these people have often been marginalized, and left without regular status. The Dominican government has cited their right to choose who it wants as citizens as their rationale for not providing citizenship to Haitian immigrants. They have even gone as far as changing their constitution in order to more easily reject the appeals of Haitian migrants.

By going against the calls of global organizations to establish a system that would allow for proper racial and social integration, the Dominican Republic has created a citizenship crisis there. In 2004 after a case was brought against the Dominican Republic for denying people, especially children, rights in their country, the government defiantly went against the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights ruling which demanded that they change their processes. The Dominican Republic then created The General Law on Migration (No. 285–04), which essentially cancelled the country's *jus soli* principles, which meant that anyone born within

Dominican borders was automatically a citizen. The new regulations allowed the government to deny birth certificates if a child's parents could not prove that they were legal residents of the Dominican Republic (Kosinski, 2009, p. 383). They did this by including the caveat that anyone born 'in-transit' would not be granted citizenship. This stipulation is normally only applied to diplomats who may give birth in a foreign country. By contrast, the Dominican Republic applied this to anyone who did not have legal documentation confirming their status. While the Dominican Republic and many other countries state that any admittance is an *ex gratia* policy, as they have no legal or moral obligation to do so, with the continuing rise of globalization, this statement is surely losing validity.

While there is little literature on the topic, and it is difficult to quantify the tangible effects of anti-Haitianism, some research (Keys et al., 2014; Keiser et al., 2015) shows the negative effects on the Haitian population, mainly by examining mental health indicators. David Simmons (2010) conducted a study in six different *bateyes* – communities consisting largely of Haitian agricultural workers (p. 10). He found there were many obstacles to proper health care including segregation, access to transportation, health concerns related to the immigrants' occupation and environment, and negative treatment from health professionals (Simmons, 2010, p.10). He sees these as mechanisms of anti-Haitianism rooted in structural violence (Simmons, 2010, p. 10). Another study found that women in the *bateyes* have a much higher rate of HIV infection than that estimated for women in the general population of the Dominican Republic, and in fact is a rate comparable to that of female sex workers in the country (Brewer, 1998, p. 1880). These data clearly illustrate the ontological harms directly felt by Haitians in the Dominican Republic.

These prejudices are all inflicted at the primary level but are systematically ingrained in society. While the impacts of these prejudices are devastating for the lives of the people they affect, it is

also important to consider perceptions of migration held by the general population to address the issue holistically.

Perceptions of Migration

One of the cornerstone works on perceptions of migration in the Dominican Republic is by David Howard titled *Coloring the Nation: Race and Ethnicity in the Dominican Republic*, publisher in 2001. He examined how ideas of skin colour and racial identity factor into the everyday life of Dominicans. His three study sites were chosen to provide a sample of different income ranges and urban and rural residents. His participants were chosen to provide a sample with a varied range of incomes and urban and rural experiences as well as differing demographics. Significantly, he considers the Dominican Republic transnationally, as both a sending and receiving country. He cited ambiguities of race as a cause for inconsistencies and accuracy in his results, as racial terms are "highly specific to person and place" (Howard, 2001, p. 3).

Howard (2001) found that differences were so subtle that distinctions are arbitrary and subjective, and therefore devoid of objective reality outside of the particular social context (p. 10). He believes that identification with Indigenous heritage is limited, but that the Dominican people are still willing to identify with their Taíno roots rather than their African heritage, which is strongly associated with Haitian culture. He found that the country clings to their Spanish roots as they "have to look for a way of separating [themselves] from the country which conquered [them] for more than twenty years, hence the temptation to seek in Spain something that will distinguish [them] from the other part of the island" (Howard, 2001, p. 4). He found that "many Dominicans are more concerned to disassociate themselves from Haiti than to claim 'white lineage'" (p. 9), but nonetheless this European bias has now turned to become an American bias (Howard, 2001, p. 10), with Dominicans admiring Americans and their way of

life. When he asked his respondents what it meant to be Dominican, Howard often heard that it meant to not be Haitian (Howard, 2001, p. 10).

Opposition to Haitian residency was apparent across all sites (Howard, 2001, p. 6), although residents with more contact (the low-income urban group), may be more accepting of Haitians. However, rural dwellers were more opposed. He thought this might be explained by their more vulnerable economic status, and the threat of Haitians who are assumed to work for lower wages. As well, in the case of rural people, the lack of contact with Haitians allows racial stereotyping to be exaggerated.

Many people believed that "attempts to formalize the Haitian presence through residency permits would be the most effective way to minimize and monitor a controlled Haitian population in the country" (Howard, 2001, p.71). There was distrust across all classes, but urban dwellers accepted the idea of Haitians obtaining residency if their labour would benefit the economy (Howard, 2001, p. 72). The majority felt that they should not be welcomed without employment (Howard, 2001, p. 72).

Moving from the general public's perceptions, Howard (2001) also questioned whether anti-Haitianism was a tool used by the state to create cohesion and garner support. Media in the country portrays the presence of Haitians as restricting modernization and development, as they report that they keep wages down, and sustain a non-mechanized system of farming. There is no media attention paid to the situation in Haiti, as Howard (2001) believed similar experiences of poverty do not reduce Dominicans' contempt for their neighbours (p. 83). Paulino (2006) agrees, stating that the ideology espoused during the Trujillo era has survived as the "anti-Haitian sentiment outlived the dictatorship remaining solidly entrenched in Dominican society for subsequent generations" (p. 266). He argued that "this violence merits special attention because of its proto-genocidal nature" (Paulino, 2006, p. 266). Howard (2001) found some traces of this

dangerous statement, as he noted one informant said "I will pay you money, if you see a Haitian walking down the street. We don't want Haitians here. We don't want them!" (p. 33). However, despite the animosity, some were still able to recognize the negative effect that the expulsion of people of Haitian descent would have. One of his participants said that "before the expulsion [of Haitians from the community], I used to sell \$1,000 RD [US\$35] daily in lotto tickets. Now, I sell about \$600 RD [Dominican Pesos, US\$21]. But I am glad they are gone. You can only take so much" (Howard, 2001, p. 33). As more evidence of the contradictions Dominicans make, one 62-year-old woman he interviewed, and who was waiting to re-migrate to the United States, stated "each to their own place. I'm not giving my nationality to anyone" (Howard, 2001, p. 115). About this contradiction Howard (2001) wrote that "the perception and awareness of race, the racial hearth of Dominican society, remains one of the few aspects yet to be transformed by the development of a transnational community" (p. 119).

Contrarily, Wooding and Moseley-Williams (2004) noted that people of Haitian descent often form 'sub-communities', and that these groups "may take part in the social and cultural activities of the *barrio* (neighbourhood)" (p. 56). They found that:

...los haitianos [emphasis added] keep themselves largely to themselves, but they (the Dominicans) know and greet them, and there are no problems between them, although there may be occasional bad feeling...In general, while there is prejudice and wariness on both sides, and occasional friction, the two groups live amicably together. There are no serious problems of bad race relations at the community level such as are experienced in the United States and Europe. (Wooding and Moseley-Williams, 2004, p. 56)

Wooding and Moseley-Williams are in the minority with their conclusion

Howard (2001) stated that most families in the Dominican Republic shared some experience of migration, directly or indirectly (p. 62). He believes that many Dominican

emigrants face a sharper racial and ethnic segregation in the United States, and find themselves having to identify as black Hispanic, Latino/a, or African American (Howard, 2001, p. 62). Yet a re-evaluation of racial awareness has not been translated to the island. Instead, racial divisions, although different from what are found in the United States, are translated to the Dominican Republic. Jiménez believes that attitudes will begin to change as liberal Dominican intellectuals based in the United States visit, lecture, and publish on the island (as cited in Howard, 2001, p. 110). However, as identified in the report by the Centro para la Observación Migratoria y el Desarollo Social en el Caribe (OBMICA), the United States is playing a limited role in the ground-breaking migration reform in the country, especially small in comparison to the European Union's contribution which included financial, technical, and logistical support (Peterzolli & Wooding, 2016, p. 105).

The difference between this thesis and that of Howard's publication is that here the focus will be on migration, rather than perceptions of race and ethnicity. This allows for an avoidance of the difficulties of race studies. This is particularly relevant in the case of the Dominican Republic, where Howard (2001) said that there was both overt and inferential racism. Examples of inferential racism can include neoliberal racism or institutional racism. Even without racial divides, every society is divided by social structuring. Howard (2001) believes that race cannot be reduced to categories of class, although the two are entangled, as Hall (1980) argued that social divisions can be explained largely by economic processes, and that race is the 'modality' through which class relations are experienced. While race, ethnicity, and class all have important roles in perceptions of someone classified as an "other", migration is used more broadly here so that a balanced view that includes perceptions of different groups (mainly Americans and Haitians) can be used.

Role of the nation.

It is important to examine the state's role in citizenship practices. While nationalism can inspire self-sacrifice and love for one's homeland, it also has affinities with racism and hatred of 'the other' (Anderson, 1991, p. 141). Nationalism has been said to be racism's last card (Nederveen Pieterse, 1992, p. 15), but different forms of nationalism can emerge, some more harmful than others. One form is civic nationalism, which is based on state-building practices that bind a community together with laws, government agencies, and national holidays (Brubaker, 1999, p. 57). This type of nationalism is non-exclusionary and does not discriminate within its borders. A more prevalent and harmful type of nationalism is ethnic nationalism. Ethnic nationalism is based on pre-existing ethnic characteristics, language, religion, and customs rather than shared rights (Brubaker, 1999, p. 58), which can act as criteria of eligibility. Historically, in 1937, under Trujillo's rule, the Parsley Massacre occurred. Haitians were killed if they could not pronounce correctly the "r" in *perejil*—the Spanish word for parsley, since it was assumed that they were francophone-and by extension Haitian. In modern-day Dominican Republic, exclusion is implemented through the denial of citizenship. These practices create a strict definition of who is a part of the nation, and who is not.

Speaking on nationalism, George Orwell (1998) noted that "there is a habit of mind which is now so widespread that it affects our thinking on nearly every subject" (para. 1). He added that nationalism can be solely based on a negative feeling of an "other", and does not necessarily require loyalty to a certain group (Orwell, 1998, para. 3). This can be evident in a nation where racism is rampant, but many are also ambivalent towards their government. As well, "a nationalist is one who thinks solely, or mainly, in terms of competitive prestige" (Orwell, 1998, para. 4). This is evident in a feeling of superiority of one group over another. Orwell (1998) noted that nationalism does not always have to be negative, and can in fact have benefits (para. 4). It is positive when minority groups unite and call for fair representation and recognition from

their government, and negative when people are oppressed. However, a nationalist is very set in their ways and "having picked his side, he persuades himself that it is the strongest, and is able to stick to his belief even when the facts are overwhelmingly against him" (Orwell, 1998, para. 4). Even though the Dominican Republic's actions have been condemned by many international organizations, change has been slow or non-existent. Dominicans may be blinded by division and "have the power of not seeing resemblances between similar sets of facts" (Orwell, 1998, para. 12), such as the common African roots of both peoples. While nationalism is possibly one of the obstacles to improving the situation in the Dominican Republic, an adoption of a multiculturalist attitude could also be a remedy.

Multiculturalism.

Howard (2001) suggested that "promotion of a popular ideology of multiculturalism could provide the basis for anti-racist policy in the Dominican Republic" (p. 16). However, multiculturalism is a highly debated approach, with both positive and negative aspects.

Supporters of multiculturalism promote it as a fair system that allows people to truly express who they are within a society that is more tolerant, and that adapts better to social issues. Historically, support for modern multiculturalism stems from the changes in Western societies after World War II, in what Susanne Wessendorf calls the "human rights revolution". As a result, the horrors of institutionalized racism and ethnic cleansing became almost impossible to ignore in the wake of the Holocaust (Verotec & Wessendorf, 2010, p. 46). With the decolonization of Asia and Africa and the coming of the Civil Rights Movement in the United States, the idea of accepting other cultures became more of a mainstream ideology. As this history shows, multiculturalism in Western countries was considered to contain a useful set of strategies to combat racism, to protect minority communities of all types, and to eradicate policies that prevented minorities from having full access to the opportunities for freedom and equality.

However, despite the seemingly positive appeal of multiculturalism, there are critics of the theory. Some see multiculturalism as unsustainable and undesirable (Nagle, 2009, p. 178). There is even evidence amongst the general population to support these claims. A study of American communities found that more ethnically diverse communities have less trust in their society (Putnam, 2007, p. 147). While multiculturalism may seem to be a utopian ideal, it still takes time for people to adjust. While either of these ideologies, nationalism or multiculturalism, may help to change perceptions in the Dominican Republic, it is unclear which solution might work. In order to fully understand the situation, it is important to get a better grasp of migration terms that help to define the situation of people in the country.

Migration Definitions

It is important to understand the definitions of the linguistic terms used in these debates, and the specific categories that will be considered in this thesis. Another interesting facet in regards to this project, is the fact that another language is at play, together with its own linguistic peculiarities. I will make a brief mention about the choices of words used by people in the Dominican Republic in Chapter Four. As in every country, there are different types of migrants in the Dominican Republic, and this section will help explain which groups are marginalized.

The IOM (2016) defines a migrant as:

any person who is moving or has moved across an international border or within a State away from his/her habitual place of residence, regardless of (1) the person's legal status; (2) whether the movement is voluntary or involuntary; (3) what the causes for the movement are; or (4) what the length of the stay is". (para. 19)

The term migration includes "any kind of movement of people, whatever its length, composition and causes; it includes migration of refugees, displaced persons, economic migrants, and persons

moving for other purposes, including family reunification" (IOM, 2016, para. 19). Thus, the term migration is broad, and the groups in any situation need to be more specifically identified.

The IOM also uses the term labour migration, which is:

movement of persons from one State to another, or within their own country of residence, for the purpose of employment. Labour migration is addressed by most States in their migration laws. In addition, some States take an active role in regulating outward labour migration and seeking opportunities for their nationals abroad. (IOM, 2016, para. 18)

Another term which may be used in this situation is "economic migrant". The IOM does not define economic migrant in their list of key terms, but Migration Watch UK (2016) defines an economic migrant as "a person who has left his own country and seeks by lawful or unlawful means to find employment in another country" (para. 4). This is important as economic migrants are often given different priority in immigration systems.

Another classification for a migrant is that of asylum-seeker. This is "a person who seeks safety from persecution or serious harm in a country other than his or her own and awaits a decision on the application for refugee status under relevant international and national instruments" (IOM, 2016, para. 3). With the many migration issues now seen across the globe, this term is often conflated with refugee. However, there is an important difference that needs to be recognized, as classifications of people are important for ensuring their human rights. A refugee is "a person who, owing to a well-founded fear of persecution for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinions, is outside the country of his nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the protection of that country" (Art. 1(A)(2), Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, Art. 1A(2), 1951 as modified by the 1967 Protocol). As well, the definition of a refugee found in the 1951 Refugee Convention, Art. 1(2), the 1969 Organization of African Unity (OAU) Convention

states that a refugee is "any person compelled to leave his or her country owing to external aggression, occupation, foreign domination or events seriously disturbing public order in either part or the whole of his country or origin or nationality". Furthermore, the 1984 Cartagena Declaration notes that refugees are also people who leave their country "because their lives, security or freedom have been threatened by generalised violence, foreign aggression, internal conflicts, massive violations of human rights or other circumstances which have seriously disturbed public order" (IOM, 2016, para. 25).

A different situation occurs when a person is stateless. A person is considered stateless if they are "not considered as a national by any State under the operation of its law" (Art. 1, UN Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons, 1954). A person could have an irregular status but not be stateless. For example, this would be the case if they had entered a country other than through the regular migration channels, but their country of origin still had policies that would mean they were considered a citizen. As such, a stateless person lacks those rights attributable to the protection of a State, and has no inherent right of sojourn in the State of residence, and no right of return in case he or she travels (IOM, 2017, para. 22).

While these are all strict legal classifications, one cannot exactly consider them steadfast or clear-cut, and anyone who falls outside of these official classifications is considered to have an irregular status. Irregular migration encompasses any "movement that takes place outside the regulatory norms of the sending, transit and receiving countries. There is no clear or universally accepted definition of irregular migration" (IOM, 2017, para. 17). People in this situation are often referred to as illegal, but this term is avoided in migration scholarship as it connotes that the person in question has committed an unlawful act, or caused harm to a victim.

It is not surprising that "irregular migration flows make migrants more difficult to track, quantify, and thus harder to protect. Lack of documentation means that estimates of Global

South-Global South migration (SSM) flows are likely far lower than the reality" (Phelps, 2014, para. 9). High levels of irregular migration pose challenges to both sending and receiving governments, as irregular migration leaves migrants vulnerable to trafficking, fraud, exploitation, and abuse (Campillo Carette, 2013, p.17). The Dominican Republic is currently experiencing this issue. While shorter distance migration may be less risky, such as the case on the island of Hispaniola, irregular migration produced by barriers to mobility (such as the new citizenship regulations) is extremely high-risk and can result in enormously negative consequences (Campillo Carette, 2013, p. 61). Negative consequences that can be seen in the Dominican Republic are racism, lack of education, and a higher risk of disease, among others.

Given the many definitions to describe people's movement, it is difficult to attach labels indiscriminately to the varied situations of migrants in the Dominican Republic. With the changes to the 2010 constitution, "children born in the Dominican Republic to parents in the country illegally are ineligible for citizenship. A September 2013 Dominican Constitutional Tribunal ruling applied that criterion retroactively to descendants of all undocumented migrants born in the country since 1929" (Seelke and Margesson, 2016, p. 1). These people would have been considered stateless, because Haiti exercises *jus soli* policy, not *jus sanguine*, so those born in the Dominican Republic to transient parents (which was mentioned earlier, and in this case means anyone without citizenship) were stateless.

There are various groups that are affected by the change in citizenship legislation in the Dominican Republic. The first category is Group A which includes "people born in the country between 1929 and April 19, 2007, whose births were officially registered (i.e., they had Dominican citizenship)" (Seelke and Margesson, 2016, p. 2). This category would be people born to parents without citizenship, but who were given a birth certificate. Group B is comprised of "people born in the country between 1929 and April 19, 2007, who lacked Dominican identity

documents" (Seelke and Margesson, 2016, p. 2). This group is in the more precarious situation as they have to obtain identity documents within an expensive and convoluted system. There is also another group who are "undocumented migrants who entered the country before October 2011" (Seelke and Margesson, 2016, p. 2).

Currently, after the implementation of the *Plan Nacional de Regularización de Extranjeros/as en Situación Migratoria Irregular (PNRE)*, the status of thousands has been clarified, but there is still a lot of confusion. Some people have been regularized, while others are still considered stateless if they could not get the necessary documentation. Some were also given a sticker in their passport allowing them to stay for one or two years. In 2012 La Encuesta Nacional de Immigrantes identified 524,632 people living in the country who were foreign-born and only 239,956 people were regularized by the end of 2015, which is 45.7% of the identified population (Petrozziello and Wooding, 2016, p. 97).

The citizenship conundrum.

Citizenship has been important in everyday life and literature for centuries. Most scholars who have dealt with the topic of citizenship, and the issues of a lack of citizenship, focus on the right of admission to a country as the necessary component of citizenship, and by extension national stability and development. Lacking citizenship is undesirable for the individual, but the existence of undocumented people is also undesirable for the state and the international community as it may lead to tensions and problems (Weis, 1979, p. 162). As well, having a nationality is a gateway to other rights; Hannah Arendt¹ viewed the stateless as lacking the very "right to have rights" (Arendt, 2009, para. 17). Without citizenship or nationality ties to a ¹ Arendt was a political theorist and philosopher. As a German-Jewish woman she left Germany and was essentially stateless for several years before becoming a naturalized citizen in the United States.

particular state, a person lacks many fundamental rights including, perhaps most fundamentally, the right to a place in the world where one's opinions are significant and one's actions effective (Arendt, 2009, para. 17). Every person must be able to have grounds on which to voice their needs, and a venue in which they feel those needs are heard.

Arendt (2009) explained that in the New World after the Great Wars, the re-creation of the state and international laws meant that human rights were in actuality civic rights that were enshrined in the state, and thus they could only have precedence when one had citizenship (para. 13). This meant that human rights were tied to one's citizenship (Arendt, 2009, para. 13). She identified the problem with statelessness as not entailing a specific act, but rather revolving around the person's mere presence (Arendt, 2009, para. 10). She does take into consideration the concerns of the state by conceding that an influx of people to whom no laws apply could incite a pandemic of lawlessness (Arendt, 2009, para. 11). However, this is not due necessarily to the undesirable character of the newcomers, but rather to a lack of responsibility between themselves and the state. She emphatically states that instead of a proclamation of human rights only upheld in the most privileged of countries, there should be a stronger enforcement of an internationally guaranteed right to citizenship, no matter where this citizenship is held (Arendt, 2009, para. 17).

This coincides with Kymlicka's views. Kymlicka notes that after World War II there was a call for an emphasis on individual rights as humans over group rights (Kymlicka, 1996, p. 3). Rather than giving a group of people special contentious rights, all humans should simply be covered by basic civil rights (Kymlicka, 1996, p. 2). This coincides with Pogge's (2010) views on cosmopolitanism, as people are more inclined to help an innocent person than to help a group of people where the innocence is less prevalent (p. 9). Until this requirement is met, "we shall have more and more people who with respect to their legal status no longer are human, who have no longer a place within humanity" (Arendt, 2009, para. 17). Thus, the issue of statelessness

does not concern solely the migrant's lack of identity within a specific nation, but it also means that they are anonymous to the world. Until there is a change towards a focus on the "global citizen", nations are the ones who need to address this issue. Furthermore, Kymlicka (1996) uses the idea of liberalism to explain why people should be able to migrate at will (p. 10). He emphasizes the importance of the individual to make choices, and simultaneously the necessary respect from others of those decisions (Kymlicka, 1996, p. 10). Nations need to consider changing their legislation to be able to support the choices of those that wish to gain citizenship in their country.

Debates on Economic Effects

Depending on how one categorizes "development", the Dominican Republic can be considered a country that is struggling in economic terms, despite its potential. It is the largest economy in the Caribbean and Central America, making it the 9th largest in Latin America overall (Central Intelligence Agency, 2016). It has a reputation as one of the fastest growing economies in the region. For 2014, 2015, and 2016 it was the fastest-growing economy in the Western hemisphere (World Bank, 2016). Its rate of growth was 5.8 at the end of 2016 (Central Bank of the Dominican Republic, 2017).

However, when delving deeper into the statistics, and looking at more robust development indicators, this success is put into perspective. On the Human Development Index (HDI), the Dominican Republic at 0.715 is ranked at 101 out of 188 countries (United Nations Development Programme, 2015, p. 209). In comparison, Haiti falls at 0.483 on the index and is ranked 163rd, and Cuba is placed 67th at 0.769 (United Nations Development Programme, 2015, p. 209-210). The HDI for Latin America and the Caribbean as a group is estimated to be 0.748 for 2014, placing the Dominican Republic slightly below average for the region (United Nations Development Programme, 2015, p. 211). The World Economic Situation and Prospects (WESP)

classifies all countries into three categories: developed countries, economies in transition, and developing countries (United Nations, 2012, p. 131). They consider the Dominican Republic as a developing economy. When organized by Gross National Income (GNI) the Dominican Republic is listed in Upper Middle Income, while Haiti is classified as Low-income (United Nations, 2012, p. 131). When looking at least developed countries, Haiti is the only one considered from Latin America and the Caribbean to fall in the category (United Nations, 2012, p. 131).

Most literature on the economies of Haiti and the Dominican Republic focus on the disparities between the two, and analyze how the former became to lag so far behind. One paper concludes that there is a striking divergence in growth performance despite their broad similarities in terms of geography and historical institutions (Jaramillo & Sancak, 2007, p. 23). The inequalities are not only evident between the two countries. The differences between Dominicans and Haitian-Dominicans are very evident in the labour market. The migrants' lack of citizenship in the Dominican Republic confines them to menial, under-the-table jobs. This limits them from negotiating towards any sort of upwards mobility, and ultimately subjects them to the human rights abuses that proliferate in these circumstances (Pérez, 2014, para. 5). As well, certain legislation in the country is in place to prevent them from becoming part of trade unions, "leaving them without a voice on the job or access to the pensions or social security systems that they contribute to" noted the American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations report (as cited in Pérez, 2014, para. 5). Despite these limitations, labour provided by people of Haitian descent is pertinent in several key industries, accounting for significant value added to the economy.

There is limited literature on the labour effects of Haitians in the Dominican Republic.

What little research there is does, however, point to the positive effects of this labour contribution. The notion that Haitian migration is detrimental to development in the Dominican

Republic is a myth (Wooding & Moseley-Williams, 2004, p. 11). Most analyses about Haitians living in the Dominican Republic have linked Haitians to the sugar industry (Jayaram, 2010, p. 32). Other works (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2009; Schwerdtfeger, 2008) have recognized this population's contribution in the construction industry, cigar production, communications, service, transport, and hotels, which have been staples of the economy since the turn of the century. Evidently, as noted by Wooding and Moseley-Williams (2004) "migrant labour has shaped the modern economy and has become integrated into it" (p. 15), such is the case in many countries which see out-migration affecting their demographics and thus their economy. Emigration by Dominicans from their homeland is large, and an estimated 1.3 million people emigrated in 2015 (Tejeda, 2016, p. 67), losses that could be compensated by Haitian immigration. Indeed, one could argue that, if they want Dominicans to be accepted elsewhere, they should be accepting themselves. On a related point, it is worth noting that some researchers even contend that the tensions between the two nations have been exacerbated by outside sources to weaken the island's economy and to encourage external intervention (Howard, 2001, p. 19).

All studies show that Haitian labourers make less than their Dominican counterparts and are competing amongst themselves for jobs, not with Dominicans (Wooding & Moseley-Williams, 2004, p. 68). As the rate of migration was -3.00 per thousand residents between 2010 and 2015 (Tejeda, 2016, p. 67), there are jobs that need to be filled in the Dominican Republic, and unemployment needs to be reduced in Haiti. At the same time, remittances being sent to both from host countries are reducing poverty in each nation (Wooding & Moseley-Williams, 2004, p. 68). One World Bank report suggested that Haitians create wealth for the rich as they force already low wages down and inhibit the modernisation and mechanisation of enterprises, which may "de-rail the government's poverty reduction plans" (as cited in Wooding and Moseley-Williams, 2004, p. 68). However, there is no other research on this topic, and while they may be

increasing the profit margins of the already wealthy, they may be affecting inequality but not necessarily affecting poverty.

South-South migration effects.

A considerable amount of research has been done on Global South-Global North migration (SNM), but not much on SSM, as is the case of Haitian migrants in the Dominican Republic. The results indicate that higher levels of international migration are associated with lower scores on the HDI, but that the effect of international migration is relatively small (Sanderson, 2010, p. 70). This means that the overall decrease in standard of living is not enough to justify denying immigrants. However, this study cites bias in the fact that many people enter a country illegally or without the necessary documents, which is a known problem in the Dominican Republic. This issue needs to be taken into consideration to create a framework that will positively affect the Dominican Republic.

The Dominican Republic is considered a wealthier Southern country. Regardless of this, "SSM receiving countries face unique challenges in managing migration that cannot be solved by simply applying policies used by Northern countries managing SNM" (Phelps, 2014, para. 4). Furthermore, those moving from one developing country to another may see no other option and will use migration as an extreme survival strategy (Campillo Carette, 2013, p. 25). This means that the risk in movement is inherently higher in SSM cases, as is the case with Haitians fleeing to the Dominican Republic. If the Dominican Republic tries to institute Northern-influenced selective policies which seek to restrict low-skilled workers, irregular migration is encouraged. This less-researched, but increasingly important topic of SSM, will be addressed in the next chapter in regards to the need for a well-rounded theoretical approach.

Conclusion

This literature review serves to outline some of the key debates that are at the root of this topic. An understanding of how these issues factor into the situation is paramount to move towards a more equitable, balanced approach to the immigration question. The chapter reviewed the history of the Dominican Republic and the people that live there, including their identity as an emigration country. It then moved on to reflect on the particular issue of Haitian migration in the country, and the challenges this entails. Previous studies on perceptions of migration in the country were explored, this was examined in conjunction with an analysis of literature on the role of the nation in migration, and the way in which multiculturalism is a factor. From there, the chapter analyzed the precise meanings of migration terms that would be used in this project, and the manner in which citizenship will be considered. Lastly it examined the economic considerations that must be weighed, particularly given the economic position of the Dominican Republic, and the fact that this is a case of mostly SSM.

This research project seeks to fill a gap in the current literature. It does this by examining perceptions of migration on the ground, as was done by Howard. Yet while he considered the situation transnationally, the conclusions that he reached were more focused on Haitian migration issues of race and ethnicity. Furthermore, with the recent changes in Dominican legislation, a lot has been written about the governmental framework for migration. At this stage it is important that perceptions of migration amongst the general population are reviewed, to ensure the changes going into effect at the highest echelon are having meaningful effects in people's everyday lives. There are still many other areas that need to be addressed in this complicated situation, but this begins to highlight the key focus areas of this research project. The next chapter will deal with the theory behind this issue.

CHAPTER 3 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Introduction

The objective of this thesis is to understand the connection between peoples' perceptions of development and migration, with specific reference to the role of Haitian migration in the Dominican Republic. It is pertinent to note that migrations can be classified using four different categories depending on the source and host country's level of development. These categories are North-North migration (NNM), North-South migration (NSM), South-North migration (SNM), and South-South migrations (SSM). Understanding the type of movement that is occurring is important to contextualize people's perceptions of development. That is, does the type of migration that is happening affect a domestic citizen's view of the impact on development based on their own country's status and that of the newcomers. I will explore the definitions of Global South and Global North, and theories that help understand movements between them. As migration happens in many different forms across the globe, and the situations in these places differ, it is important to examine how they vary in order to understand the movement of people, and the discourse that surrounds this movement. I will then analyze the way in which peoples' perceptions are formed, using relevant social theories. To understand how peoples' perspectives affect development in a country, I will use a political economic framework to link the two spheres. As political economic theory is the primary framework used to understand how these issues intersect, I will explore challenges that result from its application, and alternative theories. I will end this chapter by explaining why a political economic framework is the best choice for the research that was conducted.

Migration and North and South

It is important first to understand what is meant by the terms "North" and "South". From a development perspective, there are many problems associated with these terms, and the ideas

they provoke. First, they imply a hierarchy, and insinuate that a few countries dominate the rest. Secondly, they are not holistic in that they do not account for the differences within countries themselves. Although these terms have their limitations, they serve the purpose here to illustrate the difference between developed (North) and less developed (South) countries.

According to the UNDESA classifications, North refers to North America (excluding Mexico), Europe, Japan, Australia, and New Zealand (Laczko, 2013). Thus, every other country is considered part of the South. This is the definition that this thesis will use, but it is important to note that this is only one definition of many. The World Bank's list of Northern countries also includes Bahrain, Barbados, Hong Kong, China, Israel, Macao, Oman, Puerto Rico, Qatar, the Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Trinidad and Tobago, and the United Arab Emirates (Laczko, 2013). This list is based solely on GNI per capita, and does not include other human development factors. The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) list is also different. It is similar to the World Bank list, but also includes a few other high income countries in Latin America, the Middle East, and Asia (Laczko, 2013). This thesis will use the first definition given by the UNDESA because it takes a more rounded approach, and does not solely rely on economic indicators, which often do not give a full picture of reality.

Park (2015) notes that our modern world is in many ways defined by migration, largely from the South to the North. Given the generic definition that North implies a more developed level than the South, one may ask if it is even worth examining SSM or NSM, as it may mistakenly be assumed that SNM is the most common path, based on standard knowledge of human action and preferences. Furthermore, the definition of a migrant given by the Oxford dictionary – "a person who moves from one place to another in order to find work or better living conditions" (Oxford Dictionaries Online, n.d.) – is another example of this limited, indeed erroneous, notion. The IOM estimates that there were 7 to 13 million migrants from the North

living in the South in 2010 (Laczko, 2013). Of that number, the largest group is Americans living in Mexico, while other significant movement of migrants is seen from Germany to Turkey, the United States to South Africa, Portugal to Brazil, and Italy to Argentina (Laczko, 2013). Some motivations for NSM include: economic opportunity and the global economic crisis, return migration, expansion of global companies, student migration, and retirement migration (Laczko, 2013). The inclusion of return migrants in this category is an interesting choice. In the Dominican Republic, this would most likely pertain to Dominicans who migrated to the United States and then returned home. It is debatable whether return migration should be classified as NSM as the factors forcing them to return may include deportation (legally or otherwise), or the end of a work contract, which is often for a very short duration. Therefore, it is clear that SNM is not the only type of migration occurring and that SSM warrants examination, including how this movement can affect the receiving country's view of development.

Relative deprivation theory.

Another migration flow that has been given slightly more attention in recent years is SSM. One theory that helps to understand South-South movement is relative deprivation theory. This theory contends that awareness of the income difference between neighbouring countries or other households to the migrant-sending community is an important factor in migration. As we saw in the previous chapter, Haiti is far behind the Dominican Republic in development indicators, and the close proximity makes it a sensible choice for relocation.

Just as NSM is significant enough to warrant consideration (although it will not be the focus of this thesis), similarly, SSM should not be discounted from our analysis. There has been a rise in SSM, and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) estimates that as of 2015 there were 82 million people who had moved from one developing country to another, comprising 36% of the total migrant stock (OECD, 2016), and this number

may be even greater given the difficulty of tracking such movement. One reason for this increase is that, as developed nations move towards immigration systems that favour migrants with high skills, this may deter people that are low-skilled who may then choose a more lenient country with a less developed immigration system (Hujo & Piper, 2007). For example, Leach (2012) notes that this is the case for many in the Caribbean who do not have the high skills required to move to North America or Europe. Seeing an influx of migrants because of these restrictions in Northern countries, could encourage lesser developed countries to limit entrance at their borders as well. Most literature shows that migration from low-income to high-income countries has overall global gains, yet most high-income countries impose strict limits on labour inflows and set their admission policies unilaterally (Epstein, 2012, p. 17).

Cases of SSM and SNM require differentiated policies as the characteristics of each differ. South-South migrants are more likely to engage in migration as an extreme survival strategy than their counterparts moving to developed countries, a process which creates irregular migration flows that make migrants more difficult to track, quantify, and thus harder to protect (Campillo Carette, 2013, p. 25). This irregularity means less people are identified in official systems and not accounted for as they should be. This status makes them more likely to face trafficking, fraud, exploitation, and abuse (Campillo Carette, 2013, p. 7). South-South movement can also be spurred because of the close proximity of countries. However, while shorter distance migration may seem safer (such as the case on the island of Hispaniola), irregular migration produced by barriers to mobility is extremely high-risk and can result in immense negative consequences (Campillo Carette, 2013, p. 23).

Social Theory

This thesis discusses anxieties about immigration that may be based on economic or social factors. Economic anxieties are more obvious, but social anxieties are also an important factor,

and can come in different forms. One social anxiety of immigration that is particularly prominent in recent policy debates in Europe is the perceived effect of immigrants on rising crime rates (Card, Dustmann, & Preston, 2005, p. 7). The belief is that the presence of immigrants may also contribute indirectly to crime, if immigration leads to increased group conflict, or if social tensions lead to harassment or violence towards immigrants (Card et al., 2005, p. 7). Another form of social anxiety comes in the form of a cultural threat. Inflows of groups with a different religion, language, or culture may be perceived as undermining existing institutions and threatening the way of life and social status of current residents (Card et al., 2005, p. 9).

Other than crime and cultural impact as determinants of perceptions, the social aspect of migration can also consider media influence. A study by Facchini, Mayda, and Puglisi (2009) found that people's beliefs about immigration policy may be correlated to their choice in media source (p. 3). Facchini and Mayda (2009) use a political framework to examine models such as median-voter and interest groups models, and find that policies are usually influenced to either maintain the status quo or to become more restrictive (p. 1). Therefore, the sources of media that are available can influence the public's opinions, inciting both economic and social anxieties.

Other social factors may affect immigration perceptions positively. Altruistic residents of a host country may support immigration to improve the lives of residents of poor countries (Card et al., 2005, p. 8). Surveys of different European countries have found that each country has very different histories of relations with other parts of the world, including periods of colonial control that may have left enduring links, positive and negative, in some nations. Due to these varied contexts, "one may expect the strength of altruistic feeling towards the source countries to differ widely between potential host countries and to contribute to differences in opinions toward immigration" (Card et al., 2005, p. 8). As was noted in the last chapter, the Dominican Republic and Haiti have a long and unique history, with lengthy periods of rule of the latter over the

former, but also times of goodwill between the two nations. I will briefly examine two social theories that will help explain how perceptions of migration may be formed.

Realistic group conflict theory and social identity theory.

One social theory that can explain interactions between groups is realistic group conflict theory (Sidanius & Pratto, 1999, p. 17). This theory posits that the perception of a zero-sum competition between groups translates into a belief in a "group threat", leading to prejudices and negative stereotyping, while simultaneously bolstering within-group cohesion (Sidanius & Pratto, 1999, p. 17). By concurrently being exclusive and inclusive, the effect of separation is doubled. Realistic conflict theory broadens the notion of self-interest to all groups that are alike, even if different factions of the native populations had not been united before (Card et al., 2005, p. 9). If this theory were to hold in the Dominican Republic, there would be evidence of Dominican unity against the Haitian presence. In addition, it would be unlikely that the situation could be improved between the two groups.

Alternatively, social identity theory acknowledges that people strive to achieve positive social identity, a process which is reinforced by favourable comparisons between one's own group and an outside group (Card et al., 2005, p. 10). While the pursuit of social identity could be a source of negative attitudes toward immigrants, it could also lead to more positive attitudes if the native group's identity is strongly linked to notions of fairness, equality, or social justice (Card et al., 2005, p. 10). This is similar to the discussion on nationalism in Chapter Two, which found that it can be both a positive or negative platform. This theory works very well in the case of the Dominican Republic, as the people seem to want to identify as Dominican, not Haitian, while simultaneously noting their European and, now more important, American ties. The realistic group conflict theory focuses more on economic anxieties, and while people seem to have economic anxieties in regards to development prospects, they do not seem to connect this

issue to people of Haitian descent in the country, as will be seen in the data in Chapter Four.

There is also evidence that the Dominican culture is very welcoming, and values a communal environment, which could be evidence of a more accepting future relationship. Furthermore, the relation of individuals to their government, and the actions of the government seem to be influenced by social identity rather than group conflict.

These theories may help to explain how Dominicans' perceptions are formed, but they cannot be all-telling. How a domestic citizen will react to immigration based on their social capital is less clear-cut than issues of their skill or income level (Miguet, 2006, p. 9), which are two of the factors considered in economic theories of personal preferences. According to Miguet (2009), someone with high social capital (that is a person with high levels of trust and reciprocity in their community) could react in a welcoming fashion, or conversely they could be very concerned with protecting their social norms and ties from erosion (p. 9). Therefore, using social theories to explain people's perceptions is more difficult than economic traits, but also allows for factors to be flexible, particularly in situations where economic traits are seen as given. Both the economic and sociological theories suggest that the perceived effects of immigration will vary according to the origin and personal characteristics of specific immigrant groups, and also according to the characteristics of the person whose opinion is being considered (Card et al., 2005, p. 11). I will now analyze the value of political economic theory, which allows the perceptions of migration and development, as affected by these social attitudes, to be considered in tandem

Political Economy

I have established that there are different patterns of migration occurring, rather than simply South-North movement, and that relative conditions between sending and receiving

countries plays an important role in understanding migration trends. Thus, a theory is needed to compare between South-South and South-North movement that has a more holistic view.

The theory that will be used to examine this issue is that of political economy, which considers the interconnected factors of political and economic motivations. Freeman and Kessler (2008) believed that political science has not been able to fully integrate economic and political concepts concerning migration, and that this integration would be beneficial for a number of areas of study (p. 9). Gardiner Barber and Lem (2012) suggested that "deploying the framework of political economy to analyze migration yields significant insights into the forces that create differences and class inequalities both within as well as between migrants and other populations in the societies in which they locate" (p. 237). Furthermore, Epstein (2012) stated that "the political economy approach takes into consideration many elements that enable us to understand better the economic outcomes of migration" (p. 32). This research shows that considering politics and economics in tandem can be beneficial, especially in the field of migration, where the two spheres cannot be separated.

Although neoclassical economics is criticised for taking preferences as a given, in fact economic theory and analysis may be employed to give useful insights into the question of where preferences come from (Freeman & Kessler, 2008, p. 656). This does not mean that immigration preferences always reflect underlying material interests, but material aspects of migration are critical inputs into the migration policy process that must be considered (Freeman & Kessler, 2008, p. 656). This point is especially meaningful when analyzing migration between different economies that have diverse economic concerns, and different levels of development.

Conversely, political science "specialises in analysing the institutions and processes that frame, shape, transform, distort, and channel economic and non-economic preferences into policy agendas and outcomes" (Freeman & Kessler, 2008, p. 656). Political science is unable to provide

a convincing theoretical account of the origins of individual preferences on immigration or the motivations of institutions with respect to the issue, and thus the economic component of political economy needs to be implemented (Freeman & Kessler, 2008, p. 658). Furthermore, the issue of migration is one that affects everyone within a country and therefore justifies the use of a political economic perspective to understand the general public's attitude towards migrants (Miguet, 2006, p. 11), which in turn affects the country's official stance. The use of a political economic perspective thus allows for a structural analysis to compare differentiated situations in each country, which are in part due to the distinctive needs within the countries. Different sectors of society might have contrasting, and even clashing, perspectives. For example, while:

...capital owners wish to increase the number of migrants in order to increase profits...the local population (workers/voters) may want to increase migration to help in certain markets while in other markets they want to decrease migration so not to depress wages and employment (Epstein, 2012, p. 2).

If economic concerns are the same between the two groups of the same society, the local population may agree that newcomers would burden them (Epstein, 2012, p. 2). However, perspectives differ, as explained by each actor's possible stance on migration.

Host country perspective.

There are many reasons why a host country would want migrants. The most-often cited reason is that "migrants may be a way to receive low cost labor, to increase the supply of labor in order to decrease wages, scarcity of workers in certain fields or professions" (Epstein, 2012, p. 11). As was noted before, and will be noted by participants in Chapter Four, this was the primary reason Haitians were first introduced into the Dominican labour force, and this process continues today.

One reason for a country to take a strong stance against immigration is to avoid undocumented migrants in their country (although it has been noted that more restrictive policies do not curb but in fact increase irregular migration). Countries with rising problems of irregular migration should instead consider working bilaterally with the sending countries. An interesting transnational view is to:

...suggest a political economy such that the receiving country should direct some of the resources earmarked for coping with the problem of the illegal flow of workers to financially supporting the source countries, allowing them to compete among themselves for such aid. This support would be allocated according to the relative effort made by each source country in curbing illegal immigration, thereby motivating them to moderate the phenomenon. This level of transfer would be a function of the different efforts the interest groups in both countries invest to increase and decrease illegal migration. (Epstein, 2012, p. 31)

Another option is that "political bilateral connections between countries could also impose migration restrictions" (Epstein, 2012, p. 31). Freeman and Kessler (2008) conclude that if the state is a unitary actor pursuing national interests, it will favour open immigration in order to maximise aggregate economic and net fiscal gains, while also considering other relevant concerns of the state that might be threatened by immigration (p. 657). This would not include the attitudes of the general public, specifically in regards to security and concerns about strains on the labour market and social services. However, this model does not consider the reality that not all states are alike (Freeman & Kessler, 2008, p. 666). Thus, the query arises of whether states should pursue the same or dissimilar discourses with respect to immigration, and how the relative standing of these countries affects their national agendas.

Domestic citizens.

Despite the possible positive economic effects of immigration, it is often the perceived negative aspects that are the most publicised, and influence everyday discourse (Card et al., 2005, p. 2). Therefore, it is important to examine data which account for the general public's opinions. One study found that attitudes about immigration vary systematically with certain population traits such as age, education, and location being particularly important (Card et el., 2005, p. 2). The European Social Survey (ESS) extensively measures aspects of public opinion about immigration including perceived economic consequences, views on social effects, and favoured traits of immigrants (Card et al., 2005, p. 2). I am not going to go into the results of this survey, because it deals with migration to countries that are considered "developed", but instead will mention some broad patterns it identified. The study showed that attitudes about immigration vary across countries, and at the same time that there is wide variation in attitudes within countries, particularly in terms of age and education (Card et al., 2005, p. 2). However, each country perceives immigration differently based on historical, legal, and cultural factors. For example, in countries with *jus soli* policies people are only considered immigrants if born abroad, and if the country institutes a jus sanguine model people who simply appear as a non-majority may be considered an immigrant (Card et al., 2005, p. 3).

Traits such as age, education, profession, area of living, can be considered a key variable in a political economic framework. One study found a strong correlation between higher education and more favourable views toward immigration, and a tendency for older people to be less favourable toward immigration (Card et al., 2005, p. 38). They also found that attitudes are also related to individuals' employment status, religion, and whether the individuals are of immigrant or ethnic minority descent themselves (Card et al., 2005, p. 38). In their review of literature, Facchinni and Mayda (2009) found that "whereas non-economic drivers have an important and independent effect on individual preferences, economic characteristics of the

respondents are shown to systematically shape attitudes towards international labor mobility" (p. 4). Understanding how these characteristics affect perceptions of migration and development are important, but understanding how they then affect politics can provide a deeper insight.

Economic factors are one of the most thoroughly examined areas that affect peoples' perceptions. A simple hypothesis of economic self-interest suggests that lower-skilled workers will be opposed to inflows of low-skilled immigration (Scheve & Slaughter, 2001, p.670). On the other hand, high-skilled workers and employers tend to gain if relative wages of less-skilled workers are supressed, suggesting that these groups will be in favour of less-skilled immigrant inflows (Card et al., 2005, p. 6). More complex models suggest, however, that impacts on wages are relatively small, or even zero (Card et al., 2005, p. 6). Despite this fact, the authors still concluded that it is reasonable to expect that lower-skilled workers oppose immigration based on their belief that it will lower their own economic prospects (Card et al., 2005, p. 6). Since full employment is near impossible, similar to the country's view, domestic labourers would rather an immigrant be unemployed than themselves, and newcomers may even find that a more attractive option than what they left (Epstein & Hillman, 2003, p. 1652). However, the authors still noted that these perceptions can vary across the population and "can be deliberately shaped by interested lobbies, the media, think-tanks, and politicians" (Freeman and Kessel, 2008, 672-673).

After wage and labour issues, another highly cited economic anxiety is that of taxes and benefits. The general public may find it easy to follow the line of thought that "if immigrants pay less in taxes than they receive in government benefits, opposition to immigration may stem from concern over fiscal rather than (or in addition to) wage effects" (Freeman and Kessel, 2008, p. 661). Going back to the group conflict theory, "native residents could be expected to oppose inflows of immigrant groups who pay less in taxes than they receive in benefits, and support immigration by groups who will pay more in taxes than they will receive in benefits" (Card et al.,

2005, p. 7). Furthermore, "perceptions that large-scale immigration is connected to rising costs of public services can stimulate middle-class tax revolts among voters who might normally be supportive of immigration" (Freeman and Kessel, 2008, p. 672). An interesting point that may affect this notion, is that "because immigration is typically geographically concentrated, residents and elected officials in localities that bear a disproportionate share of such costs have greater incentives to oppose immigration, while those in other localities clearly have less" (Freeman & Kessel, 2008, p. 661). This is a point particularly pertinent to this case, as the Dominican Republic has an undeveloped tax system, and this was a pertinent theme in terms of the location and socioeconomic status of my participants. As well "fiscal costs can pit service payers (tax-payers) against service providers (bureaucrats, teachers, etc.) who argue for expanded budgets to meet immigrant demand" (Freeman & Kessel, 2008, p. 672), increasing tensions between the two sectors. However, this point can be countered by the fact that governments often bow to public pressure, condemning "freeloaders" who take advantage of the system without paying taxes.

Each of these factors plays an important role in shaping domestic citizens' perceptions of migration. Both economic and social aspects were considered, and how both can affect politics. Similarly, the actions of newcomers as a minority group affect perceptions of migration.

The Minority Group.

Minorities, including migrants and irregular migrants, participate in the labour market differently than domestic citizens, and generally earn less income than their counterparts (Epstein, 2012, p. 21), as is the case in the Dominican Republic. While structural reasons create and sustain these conditions, another reason for the lag could be a lack of attempt to integrate by newcomers (Constant et al., 2009, p. 1). Failure to integrate can be positively viewed as an attempt by the minority group to preserve their heritage. But it can also be viewed negatively if the reason for lack of integration is due to prohibitively high adjustment costs, inadequate

language skills, or a lack of knowledge of local labour markets (Chiswick and Miller, 1995, 1996; Bauer, Epstein & Gang, 2005; Epstein, 2012). Lazear (1999) suggests that the size of the minority group affects the likelihood to assimilate (p. 39). If the size of the minority group comprises a significant portion of the population they may "not need the local population for economic reasons and, as a result, the cost of not assimilating decreases and they may even have a net cost for assimilating" (Epstein, 2012, p. 23). Alternatively, minority groups could also play on a country's needs in order to benefit themselves. Epstein (2012) believed that "migration and assimilation play an important role in international trade. Migrants are a bridge to international trade since they have the knowledge of the home country and the host country" (p. 28). This could allow for minorities, as well as host countries, to work together to aid in integration.

The actions of minorities or newcomers to a country greatly affects how they will be perceived in the environment, and these actions can cause negative and positive reactions. By connecting the needs of newcomers, domestic citizens, and the host country, benefits can be maximised

Difference between Developed and Developing Countries.

What are the differences between receiving countries based on their circumstances?

Countries can be defined in many different ways, and not just with terms such as North or South, or developed or developing. Indeed, they can also be classified by the skill-level of the labour force. These characteristics influence the population's perceptions. The Dominican Republic can be classified as having more unskilled labour than skilled, and people of Haitian descent in the country are also largely unskilled. Facchini and Mayda (2009) found that in countries with inflows of majority unskilled workers, income is negatively correlated with pro-immigration preferences, and the opposite is true for more skilled, higher-earning citizens (p. 5). Furthermore, government policy may influence the integration of newcomers into the labour market as well as

into everyday life. Epstein (2012) found that there is evidence "that natives in countries selecting immigrants on their skills are more likely to think that immigrants are generally good for the economy than are natives in countries which receive mainly asylum seekers and refugees" (p. 15). However, it is important to note that this research was all done on OECD countries. It is also interesting to note that in places like Canada and New Zealand, considered positive examples in terms of immigration policy, citizens are more likely to be concerned about labour effects, while "countries that receive mainly noneconomic migrants, natives are mostly concerned about increasing crime rates" (Epstein, 2012, p. 15). We will see in the results of this research project if Dominicans who expressed anti-Haitian sentiments were more likely to reference crime as a key factor in their view of Haitians.

Political economy can also be useful when examining the conditions of the sending country to understand reasons for emigrating. Epstein (2012) explains the process of skilled or unskilled migrants leaving a country is often based on skill and closeness to political powers (p. 29). From the sending country's perspective, those furthest from the leader are the least privileged, and have the greater incentive to emigrate. Sometimes this is the unskilled, but also at times it is the skilled sector (Epstein, 2012, p. 29). This is especially true for less developed countries with military-supported autocratic governments, where there is evidence of benefits based on one's proximity to a nation's ruler (Kimyeni and Mbaku, 1995, p. 706). As well, the effects of migration trickle back into the sending community through remittances. In the sending country remittances and a decrease in labour participants may enable not only migrants' children, but also others, to stop working even upon the return of the emigrant parents (Epstein, 2012, p. 30). A political economic framework can thus allow the researcher to understand motivations and results of migration, although this thesis will focus on the latter in the receiving country.

An important facet to consider in this analysis is how the different actors' perceptions influence each other. This influence can go in both directions. The image that the government portrays creates a certain environment which "plays an important role in determining voters' attitude towards migrants" (Epstein, 2012, p. 13). As well, "the degree to which the majority welcomes the minority plays an important role in assimilation" (Epstein, 2012, p. 22). The majority may be non-receptive if they take to heart the economic and social anxieties mentioned before. As a result, the effects move from the micro-level, to the structural level, as public attitudes towards immigration and immigrant-related issues are perhaps more important in shaping migration policies than factual information (Card et al., 2005, p. 37).

Problems with Political Economy

As was noted by Freeman and Kessler (2008), despite a political economic lens which makes sense of actor's actions by finding similarities, every country is different and should consider immigration independently (p. 666). Concerns of receiving countries in SSM are indeed similar to that of SNM, and these discourses are driven by a political economic narrative, where both factors are continuously intertwined. Despite these similarities in South-North and South-South discourses, these different types of movement require distinctive policies. Furthermore, "the political economy of migration policy is a fertile field not yet fully cultivated...Specifically, political scientists must address where individual preferences on migration policy come from and how these are aggregated and processed via interest groups, institutions and states" (Freeman and Kessler, 2008, p. 673). This can in part be remedied by using social theories such as social conflict theory and realistic groups conflict theory. While the appeal of this framework is that it is interdisciplinary and broad, researchers need to be careful to not try to account for too much.

Other Theories

Classical Economic Analysis.

In contrast to political economic theory, classic economic analysis assumes that individuals wish to maximize utility, while capital owners wish to maximise profits, and politicians are supposed to maximize social welfare (Epstein, 2012, p. 1). An author who looked at a case of migration through an economic lens is Ong (1999), who analyzed the case of Chinese immigrants in Canada. In the UNDESA definition used in this thesis, China is considered a southern (developing) country. Despite this fact, people leaving China are often well-off and have the privilege of flexible capital. These migrants' movements are the products of careful economic calculation, and dominate the choice of their destination (Ong, 1999). It is not in question that states practice economic-based decision-making in immigration policy, but this is evidence that migrants themselves are being selective, making their decisions based on economic criteria. Furthermore, Binford (2013) explores the case of the Seasonal Agricultural Worker Program in Canada. He explains that the perfect migrant is one that is at the beck and call of labour market needs, and yet forfeits the right to privileges of citizenship by being a part of Canada's prohibitive temporary worker system (Binford, 2013). Similarly, in Nicole Constable's (2014) account, newcomers are expected to act as appreciative workers, thankful for the opportunity being afforded to them. This mindset is similar to that seen in SNM, despite this being a case of a South-South mobility model. It seems the same concerns of strain on the accepting economy are still seen as cause enough to create a discourse of what Constable (2015) says is a neoliberal assumption that migrant workers are charity cases, a process which also sees the opportunity of working as humanitarian aid.

Each of these cases provide evidence that a purely economic framework can be useful to examine people's incentives for migrating, governments' actions, and to some extent people's reactions to immigration. However, it does not allow for a thorough examination of how these preferences are developed. An approach that solely focuses on economics is not enough.

Global power and transnational perspectives.

As Glick Schiller (2012) argues, migration scholars need a broad framework that encompasses a variety of factors, and she advocates using a global power perspective lens. Such a perspective would not be constrained by the nation-state as previous studies were, since this led to the fissure between development studies and migration research. Instead of a focus on the problematic ethnic group, this new approach would consider the impact of neoliberal economies on migration in a more objective way, and not be constrained by the idea of separate nation-states (Glick Schiller, 2012). Furthermore, "a global power perspective on migration allows scholars to speak to a series of integrally related processes that cannot be understood separately" (Glick-Schiller, 2012, p. 40), similar to a political economic framework. She advocated that a global power perspective is best "to examine simultaneously the cultural narratives of everyday forms of nation-state formation, the global efforts to reconstitute capital and facilitate its flexible accumulation and the struggles of people around the world to live their lives with dignity and justice" (Schiller, 2012, p. 52, italics added). The third and last points are similar to our goals here, but the second (italicized) is outside the scope of this thesis. While this thesis is concerned with the fact that the Dominican Republic is considered a developing country in the global order, it is also important to focus on it specifically in a nation-specific context. While the global power perspective is useful for examining migration, the use of political economy theory is more appropriate for the purpose of this project. A global power perspective focuses on transnationalism, while instead, I want to connect people's perceptions of migration to perceptions of development within the nation.

Scholar de Haas (2008) also advocated for a more transnational approach specifically when looking at migration and development. However, he noted that:

...discourses naively celebrating migration, remittances and transnational engagement as

self-help development "from below" also shift attention away from the relevance of structural constraints and the important role states and other institutions play in shaping favourable general conditions for social and economic development to occur. (de Haas, 2008, p. 2)

He is correct, but I believe the political economic framework allows us to do that while keeping the focus on the domestic citizens of the country in question.

These are just two of the other theoretical frameworks that could be used to examine migration. While they are informative in delving into specific facets of migration, it is evident that a political economic perspective is particularly useful in connecting various parts of the issue, and to examine perceptions of migration at various levels.

Political Economy and the Connection to this Research Project

Miguet (2006) found that "public opinion pressures have not only widened the scope of the immigration policy debate but have also played a significant role in the shaping of national and international immigration policies" (p. 6). For this reason, I believe interviews conducted with people from various sectors of the Dominican population can give insight on how future policy could be shaped. One could also view the issue from the top-down, as it is recognized that "migration has a strong economic impact and as such, creates many rents for different groups in the economy" (Epstein, 2012, p. 2). Therefore, policies that are implemented by the government will have an impact on the economy, which will in turn affect the various actors involved differently. It is important to understand how perceptions of migration are created, and consider them in tandem with development objectives. If the masses connect development issues with migration policies, then more robust government policies would need to be instituted to ensure one is not unconducive to the other.

Conclusion

This chapter examined how various theories can help explain people's perceptions of migration and development. I have argued that migration needs to be considered in relation to the specific context of the country, largely whether it is a developed or developing state. I then explored how individual preferences may be influenced, based on various social theories. I determined that political economic theory is the best way to view the connection between migration and development in the Dominican Republic. This framework makes it possible to explore the positioning of a country affects the issue of migration. It also illustrates that the perceptions of domestic citizens and minority groups can also have a bearing on the national stance. I then mentioned the limitations of political economy theory, before evaluating other frameworks that could have been used. I concluded by explaining why a political economic framework is the most appropriate way to consider the situation, given the methods that were used for this project.

It is evident that immigration discourse can change based on whether the movement is classified as South-South, South-North, North-South, or North-North. North-North discourse is largely favourable and is the focus of most high-skill migration plans to attract the brightest and the best. By contrast, South-North discourse is different, and largely negative, despite the fact that the movement is often done to fulfil labour needs in the receiving country as with North-North migration. SSM research is also much less developed. Given these differences, a political economic perspective is the best framework to examine the issue at hand in order to consider each unique situation. This will allow for a consideration of people's perspectives on the issue which may shape policy, labour market decisions, and affect the social life of newcomers.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND FINDINGS

Introduction

This section reviews the data that were collected during the period of fieldwork. The information collected provides a snapshot of perceptions of different topics related to migration issues. They are not illustrative of the entire country, but do give some insight into the general public's stance, something that is often not considered when studying how migration and development interact with one another. First, I explain the methods that were used, as well as the challenges and obstacles that arose. Secondly, I give a description of the results based on four central questions that were used, and finally I analyze the significance of these findings.

Methods

In order to understand the connection between perceptions of migration and development, I conducted semi-structured interviews in the Dominican Republic over a period of three months from the end of August 2016 to the beginning of December 2016. Interviews were conducted in three different sites in the Dominican Republic. The research sites were Santiago, Santo Domingo, and a small rural village which for confidentiality reasons will be called Luza. The three sites were chosen as they provide different styles of living. Santo Domingo and Santiago are the two most populated cities, with populations of 965,040 and 691,260 people respectively. For the purposes of this thesis, they are both categorized as urban. By contrast, Luza is a municipal district comprised of approximately 70,000 residents, and is considered rural.

I was the sole investigator. I took on a participant-observer role, which allows the researcher to more directly experience aspects of the situation and the people involved therein. The goal was to achieve inter-subjectivity with the people I studied, to access their viewpoints and experiences, and become intimately familiar with these peoples' situations as much as possible for an outsider. Interviews are generally the most instructive means of gathering

ethnographic data. They allow the researcher to develop a more comprehensive understanding of the community life. The aim is not to derive a theory from the data that is a meta-theory or "all-explaining", but rather to develop trans-historical and trans-contextual relevant concepts.

The interview guide I used is attached as Appendix A. Semi-structured interviews are beneficial in learning Dominicans' perspectives on migration and development because they allow people to express their beliefs. For this reason, I interviewed people of various regions and income levels. As mentioned in the previous chapter, extracting information from the general public makes it possible to see how politics within a nation may be shaped. Therefore, the results and analysis in this chapter may provide useful insight into the value of current legislation as seen by the people themselves.

Participants.

Of the 19 participants interviewed for this research project, all but three were Dominican citizens and had lived there their entire lives. The table below shows each respondent's gender, the location of residence, and occupation. Two of my participants, Dr. Tejeda, and Dr. Wooding, are professionals who work on the subject of migration at the Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales (FLACSO) and the Observatorio Migrantes del Caribe (OBMICA), respectively. They provided in-depth and invaluable information. They asked that their names be attributed to their responses in this project. When I reference the general public, they are not considered in this group, due to the nature of their work on the subject.

Table of participants.

Identification Number	Gender	Living	Employment
1	M	Urban	Farmer
2	M	Rural	Farmer
3-Dr. Tejeda	M	Urban	Professor

Identification Number	Gender	Living	Employment
5	M	Rural	Warehouse worker
6-Dr. Wooding	F	Urban	Researcher
7	F	Urban	Lawyer
8	M	Rural	Teacher
9	M	Rural	Store owner
10	F	Urban	Vendor
11	M	Rural	Government Official
12	F	Urban	Doctor
13	M	Rural	Business Owner
14	F	Urban	Factory Worker
15	F	Rural	Unemployed
18	M	Urban	Street Vendor
19	F	Rural	Lotto Stand Worker
20	M	Rural	Retired, Canadian
21	F	Rural	Volunteer Teacher, American
22	F	Rural	Business owner

Logistical and Methodological challenges/obstacles.

Cultural differences sometimes caused challenges during the research period. In the Dominican Republic the general public's definition of development seemed to be different from mine, and I often needed to explain my meaning. Participants were found by random selection when visiting public places in the communities. Language issues also posed a few problems. For logistical

reasons, using an interpreter did not prove viable. I decided to rely on my own Spanish skills to conduct the interviews. With ample preparation and extreme patience from all my participants, I conducted the interviews with little difficulty. Any discrepancies in interpretation are solely the fault of the researcher.

Time of the study.

Interviews took place from August to December of 2016. General elections were held in May 2016, with Danilo Medina re-elected as president, after his party amended the constitution so that he could have a second term. It is important to note the political climate given the topic and framework used. None of the respondents made explicitly negative remarks about Medina or his policies in the interviews. Even the two scholars interviewed agreed that his policies in regards to migration have been fairly useful. Dr. Tejeda said that:

It's the first time that the Dominican government makes this step to make an effort of regularization that I applaud. I think it's very positive, you know. For people who have lived here for 40 years, are not residents, not visible, we don't know who. Now we know who you are, what is your name, where do you live, if you have a contact here, if you have an employer. I think it's the better thing they do. Even if they ask for many, many papers so it's very difficult, but I think that this is a good thing that the government does. But we have to evaluate to see exactly what happened. (Dr. Tejeda, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016)

However, Dr. Wooding did note that no political party has made migration a priority issue. This despite the fact that:

...with a large number of migrants, the high unemployment rate in some of the host countries, xenophobia, and the perceived effect the migrants have on the local population (workers and capital owners), migration policy is becoming an important

issue in some of the developed countries and, in particular, it has become a central issue. (Epstein, 2012, p. 12)

Understanding the context in which the interviews took place is pertinent in analyzing the results.

Description of results

There were four central questions around which the interviews were structured. They were as follows:

- 1. What are your perceptions of migration in the Dominican Republic in general?
- 2. What is your experience with emigration from the Dominican Republic?
- 3. What are your interactions with people of Haitian descent?
- 4. What do you believe is the most important development issue?

What are your perceptions of migration in general?

Overall, Dominicans welcome migration to their country. Not a single participant expressed sentiments that can be compared to rhetoric by the right in more developed countries, as publicized by the media today. However, most seemed to immediately connect the concept of "migration" to emigration from the country, which is not surprising given the high level of emigration from the Dominican Republic². This question often led to the topic of the basic differences between Haitians and Americans, and I will explain those responses here.

Haitians

Other than two of the people interviewed (Respondents 10 and 18), participants did not make negative comments about people of Haitian descent in the Dominican Republic. However, outside of the interviews, I noted a number of jokes made about Haitians in casual conversation.

² As was mentioned in Chapter Two, approximately 1.3 million people emigrated from the Dominican Republic in 2015.

If someone wanted to poke fun at someone, for example, they may call them *Haitiano*. One picture of three men was shared several times in my presence, asking the respondents which of the three subjects was more beautiful. All three men had very dark skin, and people would at times say none because they were *Haitiano*.

The two people who explicitly expressed negative feelings about people of Haitian descent both lived in urban areas. Respondent 18 stated that Haitians wished to harm, thieve, and kill. Participant 10 also said Haitians were thieves. It is important to note that the urban areas do have a higher percentage of residents of Haitian descent, and not surprisingly the crime rates are higher than in the countryside. After the urban areas, the area I visited with the highest concentration of people of Haitian descent was in the mountains. Participant 22, lived in a very underdeveloped mountain region. She probably had the most contact with someone of Haitian descent out of all the participants as she had a Haitian woman working in her home as a housekeeper. When I asked about their interaction, she said she was a good woman, and that she was quiet. Otherwise, she was dismissive of her presence. In addition to location, age was a factor that I was interested in seeing if it had an influence. Respondents 15 and 2 were alive at the time of the Parsley Massacre, which involved the death of thousands of Haitians. They both would have been around the age of five or six, but both remember the time. Respondent 15 was one of the people more explicit in her feelings on Haitians, saying that they often suffer (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016).

Peoples' opinions on how the media affected their preferences varied among participants. In general, people did not seem to note that media played a significant role. However, Dr. Wooding expressed her concern with the media in the country, adding that there was really only one viewpoint expressed, which takes a negative stance on migration to the Dominican Republic. The media that I have found online is often very inflammatory, and provides only one point of

view, emphasizing that the Dominican Republic needs to practice protectionism against its

Haitian neighbours. When participants were asked about how their perceptions were formed about Haitians and other migration issues, they usually cited life experience, with few referring to the media as an influence on their perceptions. I also believe, given the low education status of most of the participants, that none of these people would seek out news articles. Respondent 20 said that he does not know a Dominican who would ever read a paper.

The question of how the government influences perceptions and is affected by public opinion also had an ambiguous result. The general public seemed satisfied with their government, other than expressing some dissatisfaction with certain services. Several expressed their admiration for President Danilo Medina. One respondent made reference to Medina saying that he would not have come to the aid of Hurricane Matthew victims, which occurred in October of 2016, if the election had not yet taken place (Respondent 20, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). This was the only comment that I perceived as negative, since most respondents generally praised or thanked the President. However, both Dr. Wooding and Dr. Tejeda noted that the various political parties do not tend to take very differing stances on the issue of migration. He finds that across parties and time "they were the same, this kind of politics, very restrictive politics...stopping migration, and migration is natural so people are looking to improve their lives, and they don't have work, they are going to find the work in another country" (Dr. Tejeda, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016).

One theme that was pervasive in the interviews, was that Dominicans felt that they had similar issues and challenges to those facing people of Haitian descent. This contradicts the generally held view that Haitians face far worse societal problems. Dr. Tejeda expressed the popular sentiment found in most literature that "if you're from here you have no problem, if you're Haitian you have problems" (Dr. Tejeda, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016).

Interviews with the general public depicted rather a different picture. For example, a number of people noted that they were lacking important identification documents, and that this had caused problems for them and their families. Respondent 2 said that one of his daughters did not have a *cédula* (identification card) and was unable to work at one *banca* (lottery stand). Respondent 14 gave birth to three children, none of whom were registered as her children. However, she is the legal guardian of one nephew. To have this changed would cost twelve thousand Dominican pesos, which is equivalent to \$334 CAD. As well, Participant 15 was unaware of her age, as she had never had a birth certificate. Similar issues are very common for people of Haitian descent, especially if they have irregular status.

It is also worth noting the opinions that Haitians hold about Dominicans. The only mention of this was by Respondent 5 who said that Haitians think Dominicans are brutes (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). In my opinion, and based upon what I observed, the Haitian reaction to Dominicans was one of deference. I never witnessed any instances of hostility or violence from people identified as being Haitian, and often saw these people working along with Dominicans in both the rural and urban settings.

One participant with a more rounded knowledge of migration in the country was

Respondent 7. She is a lawyer who oversees the team of people that administer the PNRE

process. They review applications and ensure applicants have all the necessary documents. She

has been working on the program since it began, and says the process involves a lot of work. She

noted that her team does not only work with people of Haitian descent. With over 100

nationalities represented in the program, they also work with people from Spain, Italy, Cuba,

Colombia, Paraguay, Chile, Europe, Canada, and America – "nearly all countries" (Respondent

7, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). She believes that a lot of Haitians have the

ability to obtain their documents but do not look for them. However, Dr. Tejeda believes that

"they ask for a lot of papers that these poor people cannot provide" (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016).

Respondent 7 noted that all the information about the PNRE process is available online, including information about the documents that are needed to regularize one's status. She also noted that the government office is open every day. She said her job is difficult because the general public does not always understand the purpose of the program, as information is not always delivered equally and because Dominicans are nationalistic, leading them to be hesitant about regularizing the status of so many Haitians. She added that the current process will allow the government to learn and improve the system in the future, which is needed as the country has always had, and will continue to have significant waves of immigration. Dr. Wooding agreed, saying that the regularization program should not be thought of as a "one-off" program, but instead should be considered more as a "continuous process, and in that way to facilitate regular migration not to make it so difficult" (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016).

Dr. Tejeda believes that (mistaken) perceptions about the number of Haitians in the Dominican Republic could (and need to) be changed by making data on migration matters more public. He believes that figures from official documents make it:

so nobody can say 'oh there are two millions of immigrants, you can ask somebody in the street...they have no work because of Haitians, there are two millions, three millions, 4 millions – no there's not one million. So that's very important for us to have these data, because now we can say...how they are, where they work, and how they contribute to the economy" (Dominican Republic, August-September 2016).

When asked if he truly believed having this concrete information could change Dominicans' perceptions, he stated that he was unsure. At present, he noted, people question it "because now they are in the urban cities. They are working in construction, they're working in services, and

they sell fruits on the streets so everybody sees Haitians every day. Before now they used to work in the *bateyes*" (Dr. Tejeda, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). He also noted that there are at least "200,000 people, Dominicans of Haitian descent, Haitian origins. They are Dominicans that live here, feel like a Dominican, and they [Dominicans] don't want to understand that" (Dr. Tejeda, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). However, he said that even if Dominicans have negative perceptions of the migrants, they still engage with Haitians. He said that people did not "know anything about it" so they give them work, and created this contradiction, "I don't like you, but I pay you to do that, to make construction, to make agriculture work. I engage you" (Dr. Tejeda, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016).

US Citizens

Another important demographic to consider in this situation is that of US citizens—specifically Dominicans' perceptions of them. The first demographic that seemed to come to mind for most respondents when asked about migration was the situation of US citizens in the Dominican Republic. As mentioned in Chapter One, a former European bias has changed to an US bias, given the close ties between the two countries. Due to this, US citizens are welcomed and moving to the United States is a coveted act. Respondent 18 said that US citizens do not cause harm, but instead they help people. Dominicans interviewed also often referenced them visiting the country as tourists as a form of migration.

Do you have family overseas?

In line with the fact that emigration is far greater than immigration in the Dominican Republic, every respondent of the general public said that they had family overseas. The majority were in the United States. However, despite a positive view of the United States and the lives of their friends and family who live there, only two expressed interest in ever wanting to emigrate there.

Respondent 2 and 18 both said there was no point as their whole lives were in the Dominican Republic. Respondent 19 provided a different perspective, saying that her situation was very difficult, making impossible the idea of even dreaming of going aboard.

What are your interactions with people of Haitian descent?

Only one participant acknowledged that they had everyday interaction with someone of Haitian descent (Respondent 22). She had a woman of Haitian descent working in her home doing daily chores. Participant 8, a teacher, said that he only had one student of mixed descent in his classes, a girl with a Dominican mother and a father from France. In his previous postings in more urban areas, he had taught students of Haitian descent. He said they were able to grasp Spanish and read and write at the same level as his other students. Respondent 2 shared with me some of the Creole words he had picked up working in the fields with people of Haitian descent over the decades. He said he did not keep in contact with any of them, and only had a vague idea of where they had gone since working with him.

Dr. Wooding said that a crucial step moving forward is to "draw attention to the fact that what's been noticeable by its absence is policies on integration" (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). She said that events like the Border of Lights festival held annually are a good way to celebrate diversity. She believes one area that needs strengthening is work within the unions. She would like the unions to "adopt a more plural approach to who is and who isn't a member" and to realize that doing so is "not inimical to Dominican members having Haitian members in their ranks, [and] that we're all in this together" (Dr. Wooding, Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). As well, Dr. Tejeda's research has found that the work of foreign populations accounts for 7.5% value added to the economy. The Haitian population alone accounts for 5.4% value added to the Dominican economy. These vital contributions need to be recognized moving forward.

What is the biggest difficulty of life here or obstacle to development?

The most commonly noted development problem mentioned by respondents was the matter of infrastructure. Participant 22 noted that in the mountain range where she lived, roads were literally being washed away with the abnormally heavy rain in the region in November. This was very evident when travelling to meet with her. This was her greatest concern despite having a husband and four sons with disabilities, who work in the amber mines under very dangerous conditions

Other development problems that were noted were the lack of accessible and clean water, the high cost of living (particularly in relation to medical treatment medicine), and the lack of jobs with good wages outside of the bigger cities. Participant 8 noted that the provision of services in the Dominican Republic, such as electricity and clean water, move at a very slow pace. Overall, the participants seemed satisfied with their lives. Respondent 2 said he had just enough to live, "but you are happy, every day you are happy" (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). Respondent 18, one of the two with negative perceptions of Haitians, said that he had a good life; he has his business, food, community, and that is all he needs.

Overall participants seemed to separate the role of the government from the issues they identified as the biggest obstacles to development. Of the general public, only Respondents 8 and 20 explicitly identified the government as the reason that certain development areas were not functioning adequately Respondent 8, as noted above, mentioned the slow pace of development. However, he still lauded President Medina and had nothing but good things to say about him. Participant 20, a Canadian citizen residing with a family in the Dominican Republic, explained that any development problems are the fault of the current government.

Lastly, it is important to note a certain characteristic of Dominican culture. As noted by Respondent 20, there is a very strong culture of caring and sharing in the Dominican Republic. I noted this several times in my field notes. Respondent 20 said "they may be dirt poor, but they will still share everything" (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). Participant 11 said that "the Dominican Republic is open to the world" (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). This characteristic of the culture could have implications for policy as noted in the analysis of these data.

Analysis

As was noted above, the only two participants that expressed explicitly negative perceptions of people of Haitian descent lived in urban areas. This contrasts with Howard's (2001) conclusions, which found that rural residents were more opposed to the presence of Haitians, likely due to either their vulnerable position or their lack of contact with the population. With reference to the people interviewed for this thesis, there were no specific characteristics of the participants that seemed to affect their perceptions. There were no noticeable differences across ages (of the two opposed to Haitians one was middle aged and one was a senior), educational experience (both had low educational experience, or gender (one was male, the other female). As the standard research notes, "one might expect class tensions in light of perceived competition for public goods but matters of geographic concentration or regional or local politics... complicate straightforward hypotheses" (Freeman & Kessel, 2008, p. 663). The information gathered in this project adds to Freeman and Kessel's argument, as the only two people to express anti-Haitian sentiment were from an urban region. As Epstein (2012) discovered, socio-economic characteristics of the respondents such as education, gender and employment status do not seem to explain the major differences in the perception of immigrants across countries (p. 15). However, there are a lot of factors in these equations such as:

the utility of the local population (their stakes) may also be negatively related to the number of migrants as a result of xenophobia, desire not to interact with different cultures, the effect of the finance of public goods as well as welfare and distributional effects which adversely affect the local population (Epstein, 2012, p. 12).

Attitudes towards migrants may or may not be based on real economic outcomes. There are some conclusions that hold across different countries, such as the fact that immigration policy which results in immigrants being unemployed in the host country may affect the views of local employees and employers towards migration (Epstein, 2012, p. 17).

The very negative and prejudiced response that Howard (2001) received would have seemed very uncharacteristic amongst my respondents. However, perhaps it made sense at the time that Howard's research was conducted. Socio-economic conditions were very different in the early 1990s. His research also took place much closer in time to the presidency of Trujillo, which may have directly affected more people, whereas only two of my participants were alive at the time of the Parsley Massacre.

In terms of negative perceptions of Dominicans held by people of Haitian-descent, in my findings I noted that only one person of all those interviewed believed that Haitians thought Dominicans were 'brutes'. Howard (2001) alleged that Haitians share similarly prejudiced views of Dominicans. However, I agree with Howard (2001) that racial differences are so subtle that distinctions are arbitrary and subjective, and are therefore devoid of objective reality outside of the social context. Dichotomies simplify the complexity of everyday interaction, and this seemed to be true for both groups. Dominicans do not seem to consider the situation of each individual person of Haitian descent. In fact, this was one of the main issues behind the ruling that stripped people of citizenship. Scholars like Dr. Tejeda were appalled that the court decided to make a widespread ruling that would affect thousands based on the evidence from one case, in which the

documents and status of one woman of Haitian descent were reviewed and led to the stripping of status of people back to 1929³. Moving forward, Dr. Tejeda believes any case about a person's migration status should be done on an individual basis.

While the majority of my participants do not express concerns about Haitians, some see Haitians as people who have just come over the border, even if they had never before set foot in Haiti. The history of the citizenship legislation is not well-know. While Howard (2001) found that "many Dominicans are more concerned to disassociate themselves from Haiti than to claim 'white lineage'" (p. 9), I found that most people proudly identified themselves as Dominican, not in contrast or in comparison to anything else (despite the love for Americans).

As noted from the interviews, my participants often drew parallels between themselves and disadvantaged Haitians. One way respondents did this was by noting their own lack of official documents. The Dominicans who shared these experiences did not seem to want to dismiss the struggles of Haitians, but rather just wanted to remind outsiders that they also faced obstacles. However, it is important to remember that many Haitian-Dominicans are particularly "disenfranchised by this system, since they cannot afford to purchase the necessary personal documents to prove their birth status, or else fear deportation as undocumented immigrants if they approach government officials" (Howard, 2001, p. 48). These similarities in social challenges could be used to unite the people, as was mentioned in the social identity theory explained in Chapter Two.

2

³ Juliana Desquis is the name of the woman who was seeking to gain a residency card, but was denied because she has a Haitian surname. When her case was denied in the Constitutional Court, the decision was applied to all people in a similar situation. The sentencing can be found here: www.tribunalconstitucional.gob.do/node/1764

Overall, these perceptions of migration held by respondents seem to connect with the way in which social identity theory suggests that perceptions evolve. Rather than citing economic competition as a reason for any negative perceptions of Haitians, participants expressed that Dominicans were simply different. Moreover, many also referenced the United States when questioned about migration, including their ties to the country through emigration of relatives. This suggests that they compare themselves to other lifestyles than just that of Haitians. As well, the two participants who expressed negative feelings about Haitians cited alleged criminal behaviour of Haitians, which was also one of the social anxieties that was noted in the social identity theory framework. While Epstein (2012) wrote that populations with overall negative perceptions of migration are more likely to cite crime as an issue, it seems that this rather neutral population does so as well.

This respect for emigrants and the high rate of loved ones abroad should mean the Dominican Republic is welcoming to newcomers, as they want the rights of their loved ones and friends to be respected. However, Dr. Wooding noted that there is often a double standard, as countries want their emigrants' "rights respected. You want as many advantages as you can possibly have, while for immigrants you are much more reticent" (Dominican Republic, August-December 2016). This emphasizes the nature of transnationality that was considered in the political economic framework, as seen from the host country's perspective. If countries are to strive for equality for their citizens in other countries, they need to ensure that the same standards are afforded within their borders.

The last central question that I examined was the issue of perceptions of development and the possible negative impact of Haitian immigration. If you were to research literature on the Dominican Republic, and in particular the media coverage of the issue, there is a central argument that that Dominicans blame Haitians for taking away jobs, thereby negatively affecting

their economic conditions and the development of the country. However, based on my research, this view was not recognized as a concern for any participants. The three most often-mentioned development concerns were: undeveloped infrastructure (particularly roads), a lack of services, and the high cost of living. Not a single respondent cited a lack of employment due to the presence of people of Haitian descent.

As was noted in Chapter Three, social identity theory explains why domestic citizens may categorize identities of other groups. However, I also mentioned that this approach can be positive and have a unifying effect amongst these groups, something which is very possible in the Dominican Republic. This could be especially true given the strong sense of generosity and kindness of the Dominican population, and could lead to a sense of unity and shared goals amongst the entire population. If so, a unified public opinion on the needs of all living in the Dominican Republic, and an understanding that migration is not opposed to this development, could create a supportive immigration system at all levels of society.

Conclusion

Overall, based upon my research and the interviews noted, perceptions of migration amongst participants were not negative. Only two participants expressed negative views of Haitians. The fact that the general population overwhelmingly has connections overseas, and such a positive view of Americans and emigration to the United States, should be the foundation to positively approach the issue of migration in the Dominican Republic. However, there is still ambiguity as to what change this information may be able to introduce as it is not clear "to what extent the sentiments of the population are in line with policy or policy is in line with sentiments" (Epstein, 2012, p. 17). The topics that were mentioned as the biggest obstacles to development varied dramatically, based upon the views of the participants. However, it is clear that an examination of the situation based upon a political economic framework allows for connections

to be made between migration and development policy. This means that the two spheres can be considered in tandem, when examining both citizens' perceptions and the actions of the government.

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION

Introduction

This thesis began with some startling facts about the number of people with irregular status in the world and in the Dominican Republic. In the case of the latter this amounts to an estimated 200,000 people. Irregular status arises due to a number of problems at different levels of society, and can affect people across all nations and within all levels of a nation. However, it has been shown that reducing irregular migration is not achieved by implementing more restrictive immigration channels, and that there are a number of political and economic factors which have a strong bearing on the question of migration. Throughout this thesis it has been demonstrated that political economy is a good theoretical framework through which to analyze the issues of development and migration in tandem.

As a result of my research, I have illustrated that there are several pertinent issues which people with irregular status face in Dominican society. These issues are overarching and generally have a negative effect on a Haitian person's entire life there. First, the social and economic nature of current legislation allows for structural violence and prevents Haitian migrants from being easily integrated into Dominican society, and thus prevents access to necessary institutions such as education and health care. As well, government officials exacerbate the situation by emphasizing the need for nationalist values among their Dominican constituents. They focus (and with little subtlety) on the need to protect the Dominican Republic from a "Haitian invasion". Secondly, mass media outlets propagate this stigma by printing racially insensitive material. Not only do reports favour the need to protect the Dominican identity, but they also often exacerbate the differences between the two groups. These organizations, which have considerable power and influence in any nation, need to alter their focus instead of attacking an easy scapegoat. And thirdly, the effects can be felt on the ground

through *antihaitianismo* acts, whether through outright violence or subtler discrimination. These effects include insufficient health care, unfair labour conditions, and other maltreatment. This *antihaitianismo* transcends generations and is integrated into the national socialization process.

The Dominican Republic has an evident issue with irregular migration, and addressing these issues requires an approach that is multidimensional. Most research on irregular migrants focuses on the ethics of admission and admission processes. In this thesis I have contended that the focus needs to be on the full process of integration, which involves change at all levels, including personal perspectives. As demonstrated by the research findings of this thesis, the few negative responses from my participants are a possible indicator of a stable foundation on which to build.

Now is a key time of change in the Dominican Republic, with the first phase of the PNRE (the national plan to regularize the status of foreigners) recently completed, and with the government taking steps to integrate Haitians into national society. There is plenty of evidence to illustrate the deficiencies of the current system in the Dominican Republic. These deficiencies cannot be corrected by themselves, and one cannot solely focus on rectifying problems at the structural level. The effort to resolve these challenges needs to be simultaneously approached at all levels of society, with the implementation of legislation changes based on citizens' perspectives. Reports about the PNRE process will provide data concerning the number of people "regularized" and provided with immigration papers. However, this is not a problem that can be addressed solely using quantitative data. On the ground, research needs to investigate in detail how these processes affect and are viewed by both domestic citizens and newcomers in the country.

Despite these serious challenges, one finding of this thesis is that nationalist and anti-Haitian sentiments are not held by an overwhelming majority of Dominicans, as past academic literature and media contend. In this final chapter, I will first provide a brief review of the central points discussed, and will then analyze the results found in Chapter Four. From these results, I will discuss my three main conclusions, and how they connect to the theoretical framework. From there, it is important to discuss possibilities for future initiatives and research.

For this thesis, it was important to recognize that migration and development are two important facets of our world. In that regard, the goal of this thesis was to examine the connection between people's perceptions of migration and development, particularly in a developing country which has received large numbers of migrants from another developing country. The literature review served to outline some of the key debates about migration and development. The history of the Dominican Republic and the people who live there, including their identity as a country where there is extensive emigration, were acknowledged as it is important in order to contextualize the situation. I then moved on to reflect on the particular issue of Haitian migration in the country, and the challenges that this entails. In particular, previous studies on perceptions of migration in the country were assessed. This was examined in conjunction with an analysis of literature on the role of the nation, multiculturalism, and citizenship in such issues. From there, I analyzed the precise meanings of migration terms that would be used in this project. Lastly, I examined the economic considerations that must be weighed, particularly given the economic position of the Dominican Republic, and the fact that this is a case of mostly South-South migration.

In order to examine the issue, a broad theoretical framework was needed that included different types of theories. Of significance were various theoretical frameworks that can help explain peoples' perceptions of migration and development. I argued that migration needs to be considered differently depending on the context, since the context depends on the type of migration that is occurring (e.g. North-South, North-North, South-North, South-South, irregular

versus regular). I then explored how individual migration preferences may be influenced, based on various social theories and in particular, whether realistic group conflict theory or social identity theory would be more appropriate in the Dominican context. In order to address the main issue, I assessed whether political economic theory was the best way to view the connection between migration and development in the Dominican Republic. This framework makes it possible to explore peoples' perceptions from different positions in the country, the domestic citizens and the minority groups, as well as the differences between developing and developed countries. I concluded by explaining why a political economic framework is the most appropriate way to consider the situation given the methods that were used for this project.

Having a framework allowed for the data that were collected in the Dominican Republic to be reviewed in detail. First, the methods used, obstacles faced, as well as a brief overview of the participants, were acknowledged. Overall, the perceptions of migration among my participants were positive, and only two participants expressed negative views of Haitians. Of note was the fact that the general population overwhelmingly has connections overseas, and understands the phenomenon of migration as a means of improving basic living conditions. The topics that were mentioned as the biggest obstacles to development varied across the responses from participants. These results were followed by an analysis that made connections to the previously mentioned social and political economic theories.

Analysis of Results and Conclusions

Both immigration and emigration were viewed positively by my participants. Other than two participants, all respondents expressed positive views on these movements. There were no noticeable differences across ages, educational experience, or gender. The only noticeable marker was the location of respondents, as the only two people to express negative perceptions of Haitians were from the urban area. Other than an acknowledgement of the presence of Haitians,

perceptions did not seem to go much further than that. An example of this can be seen in a meeting I had with two young children on a walk. We were on higher ground overlooking an area, and they pointed out a group of people walking and told me that the people below were Haitians. I asked how they knew that those distant figures were Haitians, and they replied by noting that only Haitians work in that area. I asked what they thought about that, and they did not have a response. It was simply a matter of fact. The fact that a group of people is more likely to be relegated to a certain type of work, is a result of institutional factors, and not because of prejudices from everyday citizens.

One of the works I cited most frequently was by David Howard. His work examined issues of race and nationality in the Dominican Republic in depth. My data contradict some of Howard's findings, as outlined in Chapter Two. The very negative responses he received would have seemed very uncharacteristic amongst my respondents. Howard also believed that Dominican did not often identify with their Indigenous heritage, but would even less often identify with their African roots, as this would imply their ancestral connection to Haitians. I partially agree with this statement, as two participants made reference to their connection to the Taíno people, while no respondents made reference to African heritage.

One piece of information gleaned in the research, and mentioned in Chapter Four, was that Dominicans are generous and welcoming. I mentioned this anecdotally in my notes, and Respondent 11 stressed this in his interview. A recent report, the 2016 World Giving Index, supports this, ranking the Dominican Republic 36th among all countries examined when measuring generosity and helpfulness (Charities Aid Foundation, 2016). These positive traits of the country could aid in altering migration processes for the better, as mentioned in the Moving Forward section of this thesis, in order to make the Dominican Republic a more inclusive country.

It is important to underscore that no participant remarked that the process of migration, or in particular any specific group in the country, was the cause of the biggest problems the nation faces. The research that was conducted made it clear that Dominicans believe development is being stalled by institutional factors which need to be addressed by the government, and not by any trends in migration. The majority of participants noted slow and weak development infrastructure as the main issue within the country.

Theoretical Conclusions

I argued in Chapter Three that migration needs to be considered depending on the particular context being studied, and that individual preferences may be influenced based on various social theories. The fact that migration was not viewed negatively by my participants could be explained by the relative deprivation theory, which provides a framework for understanding why people flee for better conditions, particularly when close proximity magnifies the differences. Dominicans seemed to understand that people in their neighbouring country were suffering a lot more than they were. Relative deprivation theory could be a basis not only to explain the flight of people, but also used to instill ideas of empathy in the people of a receiving country. As well, while the pursuit of social identity could be a source of negative attitudes toward immigrants, in this case it seems the native group's identity is strongly linked to notions of fairness, equality, and social justice, a process which can lead to more positive outcome for all actors involved (Card et al., 2005, p. 10).

This main conclusion also can be explained by political economic theory which allows people to take into consideration facets of migration that have positive effects on their well-being rather than solely focusing on the economic factors. Furthermore, it is becoming apparent that economic migration is vital for advanced economies, and as the Dominican Republic continues to develop, their policies need to change to support this process

Other than political economic theory, it is important to recognize that in the case of the Dominican Republic, people's perceptions are more likely formed from the process identified by social identity theory, rather than that cited in realistic group conflict theory. The majority of my Dominican participants did not express having problems with people of Haitian descent, or that they are a threat to their resources or opportunities. Any note of difference between the two groups is simply that—a recognition that they are different. This difference is not necessarily a negative phenomenon, and may not cause significant challenges.

The people interviewed did not blame the slow pace of inadequate development on the fact that there are foreigners in their country. Rather they believe that the government is simply incapable of providing a higher standard of living. As was mentioned, this does not necessarily mean that they then have hostility for the sitting government, but rather that they wish things could simply be better.

It is clear that examining the situation by using a political economic framework allows for connections to be made between migration and development policy. However, the conclusion reached is not that migration and development necessarily conflict. Research has shown that the two can in fact be complementary, and this thesis shows that Dominicans may not see the two issues as being mutually exclusive. This means that the two spheres can be considered as working in tandem, both when examining citizens' perceptions and actions of the government.

Moving Forward

Dominican Government and Future of the PNRE.

In the field of development, the best forms of change are often thought of as being from the ground up. Trickle-down development, whether it be of a social or economic nature, is often shunned. However, on this issue, it is clear that the issue is with the government's view of migration and development, and there needs to be change at this level. As evidenced by my

research findings, participants believe they are a welcoming population, and the majority did not harbour animosity against newcomers, whatever their background. Instead, institutional factors may be what oppress and marginalize people in the Dominican Republic. This project, although it has a small sample size, may be an indicator that the government needs to learn from the people, an approach which political economy recognizes as an important factor of a successful state. Given the common trait of generosity in Dominicans, positive perceptions of migration should be accepted and used to inform future government policy.

Efforts to regularize the status of Haitians in the Dominican Republic need to continue, and it is also important to distribute accurate and equal information to all parts of the country. This will allow Haitian immigrants who need to go through this process to be informed, as well as help Dominicans understand the process. The past immigration process singled out Haitians, both by permitting the continued use of undocumented workers and as the 2013 decision that retroactively stripped people of their status only applied to Haitians. The PNRE seemed to be more neutral as it applied to people of all backgrounds, and reviews of the process will demonstrate whether it was successful. As well, sensitivity training could be provided for staff working on this project, to ensure people of all backgrounds are treated the same, as it is can be a difficult and intimidating process for any person in any country.

The Media.

There needs to be a change to media in the country for less biased reporting about Haitians.

Based on the review done in Chapter Two of this thesis and the responses from participants, their reporting may not be fully telling of the situation, and more emphasis needs to be placed on producing fair and accurate reports. The focus could be more heavily placed on community efforts to unite people in the country, and an example would be coverage of the Border Festival as mentioned by Dr. Wooding. She also noted how often facts, such as the reality that almost

double the number of people leave the country as enter, are ignored, and are often replaced by more sensational stories. This is obviously not a problem that is confined to the Dominican Republic. It is also not an issue that is easily remedied, due to fears of limiting free speech or because of censorship. Dr. Wooding (2016) said:

the problem is that most of the media are heavily controlled by the conservative interests and so even though you may have some more liberal journalists working within, often they can't control what goes out as a headline. And people don't often read beyond the headlines so there's a lot of work that still needs to be done with the media, in terms of creating a public opinion that is more balanced (Dominican Republic).

Working on ensuring that more unbiased publications are distributed, can help in aiding the dissemination of clear and balanced information about migration programs and initiatives. It could also help to hold the government more accountable when they are creating or altering legislation.

Migration Practices Worldwide.

It must be remembered that the emergence of states with diverse populations, which can lead to social tensions, is an inevitable result of initial decisions to recruit foreign workers. Irregular migrants have helped provide the labour market flexibility central to neoliberal globalization, since they work for lower wages. Also important is the fact that international law does not distinguish between regular and irregular migrants with regard to entitlement to basic human rights. Significantly, most of the world's nations have refused to sign the 1990 convention on the Rights of Migrant Workers and Members of their Families. Furthermore, the Migrant Workers Convention is the only international human rights instrument that specifically addresses the rights of migrants. It is currently the least ratified of the nine major human rights treaties, with only 48 states ratifying it, and most states that have done so are source or transit countries rather than host

countries. Several other countries have given recognition to the Migrant Workers Convention by signing it, but have not yet ratified it, meaning that they have expressed the intention of adhering to it but are not yet bound to do so by international law. No migrant-receiving state in Western Europe or North America has ratified the Migrant Workers Convention, nor have other prominent host nations such as Australia, India, or South Africa. It is also important to note that of the initial Members of the Committee who drafted the Migrant Workers Convention, all were from sending or transient countries, and no major receiving nations were involved. While the convention is more likely to affect the people of these less developed countries, it would have still been useful to have a host nation on the committee to provide their perspective. Bosniak (1991) believes that, despite the unmistakable normative value of its protective provisions, the Migrant Workers Convention's ability to substantially ameliorate the human right situation of irregular migrants is significantly constrained by its overriding commitment to the norms and structures of sovereign statehood. While the Migrant Workers Convention is one of the best instruments to protect irregular migrants, it still gives too much leeway to states in order to protect their sovereignty. These Conventions need to be taken seriously, not just by the Dominican Republic, but on a global scale especially by large host nations.

Furthermore, there needs to be more oversight with regards to migration for work, particularly when there is unofficial recruitment. Job matching is hard enough in one country, let alone involving the crossing of borders. The International Labour Organization (ILO) opposes labour being viewed as a commodity, since many private recruiters and agencies can be (and often are) exploitive. Article 8 of the ILO's Private Employment Agencies Convention 181 emphasizes that members should consider concluding bilateral agreements to prevent abuses and fraudulent practices in recruitment placement and employment. Haiti and the Dominican Republic are both ILO members and should be called on to review their policies in light of the

Convention. In addition the ILO advises the need to provide contracts in a written form, and in a language that workers can understand, which in the Dominican Republic would involve the document being translated into Haitian Creole. No-fee public employment services agencies currently have a small and declining role, but should be examined as a possible neutral third-party to assess in the future.

Within the current system of state territoriality, the absence of citizenship reduces individuals to the most basic human level, a process which requires them to sustain themselves economically within a territory where they have been excluded by the state, and yet, where the state has power over them (De Genova, 2010). The question of how countries can relegate hundreds of thousands of individuals to irregular status and deportability is premised on the logic that they are sovereign nations within the global nation-state system, and may therefore use deportation as a form of state-craft. While exploitive and unregulated bilateral relationships between states need to be reviewed, countries should not be encouraged to go to the other extreme end of the spectrum. Countries need to work together to combat these issues and create a facilitative environment for migrants.

Development.

Development in the Dominican Republic needs to be more concrete, with plans that are manageable and can be completed in a timely, and fair, manner. According to the National Survey of the Labour Force and the Central Bank, poverty decreased from 42.2% in September 2012 to 30.0% in September 2016, meaning that 1.72 million people were raised from poverty. As well, extreme poverty fell from 11.1% in September 2012 to 6.1% in September 2016, the equivalent of 480,692 people (Núñez, 2017). While these efforts are encouraging, and no doubt due to the high rate of growth in recent year, efforts need to be concerted so that migration and development efforts work together.

The Dominican Republic can also examine the possibility of more partnerships with other countries to ensure migration and development can work in tandem. One example of such a program mentioned earlier was that between Mauritius and Canada, and their agreement for circular migration, a process which benefits the labour markets and development in the sending country. Circular migration could be used as a tool to send back migrants, especially with codevelopment programs to finance development projects to encourage migrants to return. In other words development is used as an instrument of migration policy rather than an end itself (De Haas, 2006). An alternative option is to institute remittance programs to aid in development efforts in the sending country. This may be an option for Haitians in the Dominican Republic who have legal status in there, but it would be difficult to implement for the thousands of people without regular status in either country. Unilateral initiatives that focus on benefitting one country are inadequate in the face of globalized and interdependent forces such as labour mobility, trade, and development and focuses on collaboration and joint solutions. Howard (2001) believes that the animosity between Haiti and the Dominican Republic prevents them both from fulfilling their potential.

As well it is important to remember that irregular migrants may not achieve as much human development as regular migrants and domestic citizens. This will affect the development of the receiving nation as a whole. Safe and legal migration is the best way to prevent irregular, and often dangerous, migration. This is important to remember as "one thing is apparent: except in unusual circumstances, Western countries tend to spend significant resources towards limiting the number and/or type of immigrants they allow into their countries" (Epstein, 2012, p. 11). This can also apply to other countries, as problems arise from a lack of adequate migration policies, not from the migrants themselves. Furthermore, there is a need to recognize the contribution of irregular migrants in both the home and destination countries.

Conclusion

On the island of Hispaniola there are two countries, divided by a thin border, but seemingly much more so by cultural differences. Both countries have unique histories, which have been entangled over the years. Many people in the Dominican Republic are a part of several generations that have lived within the borders of the country and yet are still not legally recognized because their bloodlines trace back to Haiti. They are left without citizenship, a process which leads to them being systematically denied the opportunity of formal education, employment, healthcare, and overall security.

Anthony Smith said that "nationalism provides perhaps the most compelling identification myth in the modern world" (Smith, 1992, p. viii). This causes two problems within the issue of migration, particularly for irregular migrants. First, nationalistic ideals can invoke feelings of discrimination towards the minority group. And second, it means that those hoping to become a part of a nation must go through not only legal acceptance but also a rigorous process of acceptance amongst institutions and the general population. This is an obstacle that must be removed in order to remedy the problem of irregular migration in the Dominican Republic, but the findings of this small research project provide a positive outlook in this regard, if people's perceptions in the Dominican Republic can influence policy. More research needs to be done with larger and more diverse sample sizes to understand if the general population's perceptions have changed since previous research on the topic was conducted. Specific aspects need to be examined that were not considered in this project, such as the role of racism. As well, the transnationality of the situation should be included in future research to understand how factors outside the Dominican Republic influence migration. Most importantly, future research on the topic needs to include the voices of people of Haitian descent, since their perspectives was outside the scope of this thesis, but would have added an important dimension.

As the global population increases, so does the number of people living without citizenship or with irregular status. While international law and its instruments make at least some recognition of this fact, individual nation-states are still disregarding the issue. In moving forward, it is clear that countries have to take on specific responsibilities. Both states and international organizations need to review policies that solely seek to suppress and criminalize migration as they are likely unachievable, and instead create channels for legal migration (International Council of Human Rights Policy, 2010). Most importantly, in order for these instruments to be seen as necessary, states need to begin with the principle that migrants are human beings with rights, entitled to protection. This way of thinking, combined with the findings of this thesis that Dominican participants do not see development and immigration of Haitians as conflicting, can lead to better outcomes everyone in the country. Perhaps the contraction of needing but not wanting Haitians in the Dominican Republic is fading.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alarcón, J. (2009). Migration, Gender, and Family. *Global Perspectives on Migration and Development*, Ed. Omelaniuk, I. New York: Springer.
- Anderson, B. (1991). *Imagined communities: Reflections on the origin and spread of nationalism*. London: Verso.
- Arendt, H. (2009). Statelessness. *Journal for Political Thinking, 5*. Retrieved from http://www.hannaharendt.net/index.php/han/article/view/155/276
- Banerjee, K. (2010). Negotiating the Claim to Inclusion: Statelessness and the Contestation of the Limits of Citizenship. *Comparative Research in Law & Political Economy. Research Paper No. 7/2010.* Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.osgoode.yorku.ca/clpe/76
- Berumen, S. and Calleros, J. (2010). Human Mobility and Development. Global Forum on Migration and Development. Retrieved from
- https://gfmd.org/files/documents/gfmd_mexico10_rt_2-2-background_paper_en.pdf Binford, L. (2013). *Tomorrow We're All Going to the Harvest: Temporary Foreign Worker*
- Programs and Neoliberal Political Economy. Austin, TX: University of Texas Press.
- Bosniak, L. (1991). Human Rights, State Sovereignty, and the Protection of Undocumented

 Migrants under the International Convention for the Protection of the Rights of All

 Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families. International Migration

 Review, 25(4), 737–70. doi 10.2307/2546843
- Brubaker, R. (1999). *The Manichean Myth: Rethinking the Distinction between 'Civic' and 'Ethnic' Nationalism*. University of California: Los Angeles. Retrieved from http://works.bepress.com/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1010&context=wrb
- Campillo Carrette, B. (2013) South-South Migration. *ISS Working Paper Series*, *570*, 1-98. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1765/50156

- Card, D., Dustmann, C., & Preston, I. (2005). Understanding attitudes to immigration: The migration and minority module of the first European Social Survey. *IDEAS Working Paper Series from RePEc*, IDEAS Working Paper Series from RePEc. Retrieved from http://davidcard.berkeley.edu/papers/euroimmig.pdf
- Castles, S. & Miller, I. (2009). *The Age of Migration: International Population Movements in the Modern World, 4th Edition, Revised and Updated.* New York: Springer.
- Castles, S., Arias Cubas, M., Kim, C., & Ozkul, D. (2012). Irregular Migration: Causes, Patterns, and Strategies. In Irena Omelaniuk (Eds.), *Global Perspectives on Migration and Development: GFMD Puerto Vallarta and Beyond*, (pp. 117-152). New York: Springer.
- Central Bank of the Dominican Republic. (2017). *Dominican Republic GDP Annual Growth**Rate. [Data file]. Retrieved from http://www.tradingeconomics.com/dominican-republic/gdp-growth-annual
- Central Intelligence Agency. (2016). *The World Factbook Dominican Republic*. Retrieved from https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/dr.html?
- Charities Aid Foundation. (October, 2016). *CAF World Giving Index 2016*. Retrieved from https://www.cafonline.org/docs/default-source/about-us-publications/1950a wgi 2016 report web v2 241016.pdf?sfvrsn=4)
- Constable, N. (2014). Born Out of Place: Migrant Mothers and the Politics of International Labour. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Constant, A., Gataullina, L., and Zimmermann, K. (2009). 'Ethnosizing immigrants', *Journal of Economic and Behavioral Organization*, 69(3), 274-287. Retrieved from http://ftp.iza.org/dp2040.pdf
- Corten, A. (1976). Azúcar y política en la Republica Dominicana. Santo Domingo: Taller.

- De Genova, N. (2010). "The Deportation Regime: Sovereignty, Space, and the Freedom of Movement." Pp. 33-68 in *Deportation Regime*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Episcopal News Service. (January 26, 2015). Presiding Bishop addresses Statelessness in the Dominican Republic. Retrieved from http://episcopaldigitalnetwork.com/ens/2015/01/26/presiding-bishop-addresses-statelessness-in-the-dominican-republic/
- Epstein, G. (2012). Frontier Issues of the Political Economy of Migration. Centre for Research and Analysis of Migration Discussion Paper Series, 12 (24). Retrieved from http://www.cream-migration.org/publ_uploads/CDP_24_12.pdf
- Epstein, G., & Hillman, A. (2003). Unemployed immigrants and voter sentiment in the welfare state', *Journal of Public Economics*, 87, 1641-1655. Retrieved from http://laep.univ-paris1.fr/SEPIO/Epstein-Hillman2003.pdf
- Facchini, G. and Mayda, A. (2009). The Political Economy of Immigration Policy. *United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report, 3*. Retrieved from http://hdr.undp.org/en/content/political-economy-immigration-policy
- Facchini, G., Mayda, A. and Puglisi, R. (2009). Illegal Immigration and Media Exposure:

 Evidence on Individual Attitudes. *Centro Studi Luca D'agliano Development Studies Working Papers*, 285. Retrieved from
 http://www.dagliano.unimi.it/media/WP2009_285.pdf
- Ferbel, P. (2002). Not Everyone Who Speaks Spanish is from Spain: Taíno Survival in the 21st Century Dominican Republic. *KACIKE: The Journal of Caribbean Amerindian History and Anthropology*. Retrieved from https://web.archive.org/web/20040617195321/http://www.kacike.org/FerbelEnglish.pdf

- Food and Agriculture Organization. (2016). *Country Fact Sheet on Food and Agriculture Policy Trends*. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/3/a-i5814e.pdf
- Freeman, G. and Kessler, A. (2008). Political Economy and Migration Policy. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, *34*(4), 655-678. doi: 10.1080/13691830801961670
- Glick Schiller, N. (2012). Migration and Development without Methodological Nationalism:

 Towards Global Perspectives on Migration. In P. Gardiner & W. Lem (eds). *Migration in the 21st Century: Political Economy and Ethnography*. 38-63. New York, NY, Routledge.
- Guitar, L. (2002). Documenting the Myth of Taíno Extinction. *KACIKE: The Journal of Caribbean Amerindian History and Anthropology*. Retrieved from https://ia800309.us.archive.org/5/items/KacikeJournal/GuitarEnglish.pdf
- Habermas, J. (1995). Multiculturalism and the Liberal State. *Stanford Law Review*, 47(5), 849-853.
- Hoetink, H. (1986). The Dominican Republic, c. 1870–1930. In L. Bethell (Ed.), *The Cambridge History of Latin America:* (pp. 287–306). Retrieved from https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/the-cambridge-history-of-latin-america/the-dominican-republic-c-18701930/BD83B9A11C3C3D4AFBA41AC0EAA003C7
- Howard, D. (2001). *Coloring the nation: Race and ethnicity in the Dominican Republic*. Boulder, CO.: Signal Books.
- Hujo, K. and Piper, N. (2007). South–South Migration: Challenges for development and social policy. *Development*, 50(4), 19. Retrieved from doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1057/palgrave.development.1100419
- Human Rights Watch. (November 29, 2016). Haiti: Stateless People Trapped in Poverty.

 Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/11/29/haiti-stateless-people-trapped-poverty

- International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. (2012). World Disasters

 Report 2012: Focus on Forced Migration and Displacement.
- International Organization for Migration. (2017). *Key Migration Terms*. Retrieved from http://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms
- Jaramillo, L. and Sancak, C. (2007). *Growth in the Dominican Republic and Haiti: Why has the Grass Been Greener on One Side of Hispaniola?* International Monetary Fund. Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2007/wp0763.pdf
- Jayaram, K. (2010). Capital Changes: Haitian Migrants in Contemporary Dominican Republic.

 *Caribbean Quarterly, 56(3), 31-54. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23050673
- Joshua Project. (2017). *Country: Dominican Republic*. Retrieved from https://joshuaproject.net/countries/DR
- Kaiser, B., Keys, H., Foster, J., Kohrt, B. (2015). Social stressors, social support, and mental health among Haitian migrants in the Dominican Republic. Pan American Journal of Public Health, 38(2),157-62. Retrieved from http://www.scielosp.org/pdf/rpsp/v38n2/v38n2a09.pdf
- Keys, H., Kaiser, B., Foster, J., Burgos Minaya, R., and Kohrt, B. (2014). Perceived discrimination, humiliation, and mental health: A mixed-methods study among Haitian migrants in the Dominican Republic. *Ethnicity & Health*, 20(3), 219-240. doi 10.1080/13557858.2014.907389
- Kimyeni, Mwangi S. and John Mukum Mbaku (1995). 'Rents, military elites, and political democracy', *European Journal of Political Economy*, 11, 699-708. Retrieved from https://web2.uconn.edu/ciom/Kimenyi/Papers/kimenyi%20ptr%20rents%20miltary%20eli tes.pdf

Kosinski, S. (2009). State of uncertainty: Citizenship, statelessness, and discrimination in the Dominican Republic. *Boston College International and Comparative Law Review, 32*(2), 377-398. Retrieved from

http://heinonline.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/HOL/Page?public=false&handle=hein.journals/bcic32&page=377&collection=journals

- Kymlicka, W. (1996). Introduction. In *Multicultural Citizenship: A Liberal Theory of Minority Rights*. Oxford University Press. Retrieved from http://www.oxfordscholarship.com.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/view/10.1093/0198290918.001.
 0001/acprof-9780198290919-chapter-1.
- Lackzo, F. (2013). North-South Migration to Developing Countries [PowerPoint Slides].

 Retrieved from http://emn.ie/media/2.EMNDublin14June2013LACZKO_IOM1.pdf16
- Lazear, E. (1999). Culture and language. *Journal of Political Economy*, 107(6), S95-S126.

 Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w5249.pdf
- Leach, B. (2012). With Crossings in My Mind: Trinidad's multiple migration flows, policy, and agency. In P. Gardiner Barber & W. Lem (Eds.), *Migration in the 21st Century: Political economy and ethnography*. (89-108). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Levinson, D. (1998). *Ethnic groups worldwide: a ready reference handbook*. Phoenix, AZ: Oryx Press.
- Martínez Cruzado, J. (2002). The Use of Mitochondrial DNA to Discover Pre-Columbian

 Migrations to the Caribbean: Results for Puerto Rico and Expectations for the Dominican

 Republic *KACIKE: The Journal of Caribbean Amerindian History and Anthropology*.

 Retrieved from https://consortia.si.edu/sites/default/files/MartinezCruzado2002_0.pdf
- Migrant [Def. 1]. (n.d.). Oxford Dictionaries Online. Retrieved April 4, 2016, from http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/english/migrant
- Migration Watch UK. (2016). *The Distinction Between Asylum Seekers and Refugees*. Retrieved from https://www.migrationwatchuk.org/briefing-paper/70
- Miguet, F. (2006). *Essays on the Political Economy of Migration* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Université de Genève, Geneva.

- Morrison, T. & Sinkin, R. (1982). International Migration in the Dominican Republic. *International Migration Review*, 16(4), 819–836. doi:10.2307/2546161
- Nagle, J. (2008). Multiculturalism's double bind: Creating inclusivity, difference and cross-community alliances with the London-Irish. *Ethnicities*, 8(2), 177-198.

 10.1177/1468796808088922
- Nederveen Pieterse, J. (1992). White on black: Images of Africa and Blacks in western popular culture. New Haven; London: Yale University Press.
- Newland, K. (2007). A New Surge of Interest in Migration and Development. Migration Policy Institute. Retrieved from http://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/new-surge-interest-migration-and-development
- Núñez, A. (2017, February 28). "Gobierno: 'Más de un millón salió de la pobreza; bajó de un 42.2% al 30.0%'". *Al Momento*. Retrieved from http://almomento.net/gobierno-mas-de-un-millon-salio-de-la-pobreza-bajo-de-un-42-2-al-30-0/284751
- OECD. (2016). *South-South Migration*. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/dev/migration-development/south-south- migration.htm
- Ong, A. (1999). Flexible Citizenship: The Cultural Logics of Transnationality. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Orwell, G. (1998, October 28). Notes on Nationalism. Retrieved from http://www.resort.com/~prime8/Orwell/nationalism.html
- Parekh, S. (2014). Beyond the ethics of admission: Stateless people, refugee camps and moral obligations. *Philosophy & Social Criticism*, 40(7), 645-663. doi: 10.1177/0191453713498254
- Park, H. (2015). Producing Refugees and Trafficked Persons: Women, Unaccompanied Minors, and Discourses of Criminalized Victimhood. In G. Man and R. Cohen (Eds.),

- Engendering Transnational Voices. (225-272). Waterloo, ON: Wilfrid Laurier University Press.
- Paulino, E. (2006). Anti-Haitianism, Historical Memory, and the Potential for Genocidal Violence in the Dominican Republic. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 1(3), 265-288. doi 10.1353/gsp.2011.0072
- Perz, A. (2014). Stateless but Imperative: Haitian Workers in the Dominican Economy. Brown

 Political Review. Retrieved from http://www.brownpoliticalreview.org/2014/11/statelessbut-imperative-haitian-workers-in-the-dominican-economy/
- Petrozziello, A. and Wooding, B. (2016). Evolución de las politicas migratorias. In *Estado de las migraciones que atañen a la Republica Dominicana 2015*. Santo Domingo: Editoria Búho. Retrieved from http://www.obmica.org/index.php/publicaciones/informes/151-estado-de-las-migraciones-que-atanen-a-la-republica-dominicana-2015
- Phelps, E. (2014). South-South Migration: Why It's Bigger Than We Think, And Why We Should Care. *The Migrationist*. Retrieved from https://themigrationist.net/2014/02/06/south-south-migration-why-its-bigger-than-wethink-and-why-we-should-care/
- Plant, R. (1987). Sugar and modern slavery: A tale of two countries. London; Atlantic Highlands, N.J.: Zed Books.
- Pogge, T. (2001). Priorities of global justice. Metaphilosophy, 32(1-2), 6-24.
- Pogge, T. (2010). *Politics as usual: What lies behind the pro-poor rhetoric*. Cambridge, UK; Malden, MA: Polity.
- Putnam, R. (2007). E Pluribus Unum: Diversity and Community in the Twenty-first Century The 2006 Johan Skytte Prize. *Scandinavian Political Studies*, *30*(2), 137-174. doi 10.1111/j.1467-9477.2007.00176.x

- Roorda, D., Hutchinson, L., González, R., & Ebooks Corporation. (2014). *The Dominican Republic reader: History, culture, politics* (Latin America readers). Durham; London: Duke University Press.
- Sagas, E. (1994, October). *An Apparent Contradiction? Popular Perceptions of Haiti and the Foreign Policy of the Dominican Republic*. Paper presented at the Sixth Annual Conference of the Haitian Studies Association, Boston, Massachusetts. Retrieved from https://web.archive.org/web/20071130041101/http://www.webster.edu/~corbetre/haiti/misctopic/dominican/conception.htm
- Schwerdtfeger, M. (2008). Dominican Republic's GDP expands 8.5% in 2007. *Global Insight Report*. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23050673
- Seelke, C. and Margesson, R. (2016). *Dominican Republic: Update on Citisenship and Humanitarian Issues* (CRS Report No. IN10483). Retrieved from Congressional Research Service https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/IN10483.pdf
- Sidanius, J. and F. Pratto (1999). Social Dominance: An Intergroup Theory of Social Hierarchy.

 Cambridge. Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from

 http://assets.cambridge.org/97805216/22905/sample/9780521622905wsn01.pdf
- Smith, A. (1992). National identity (University of Nevada Press ed., Ethnonationalism in comparative perspective). Reno: University of Nevada Press.
- Symanski, R., & Burley, N. (1973). The Jewish Colony of Sosua. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 63(3), 366-378. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2562002

Tejeda, E. (2015). Flujo inmigratorio: Cifras y Tendencias. In N. Riveros (Ed.), Estado del arte de las migraciones que atañen a la República Dominicana 2014 (79-90). Santo Domingo, DR: Editora Búho.

- Tejeda, E. (2016). La Emigración Dominicana: Cifras y Tendencias. In A. Petrozziello (Ed.), Estado del arte de las migraciones que atañen a la República Dominicana 2015 (67-80). Santo Domingo, DR: Editora Búho.
- United Nations. (2012). *Country Classification*. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/policy/wesp/wesp_current/2012country_class.pd f
- United Nations. (2016). 244 million international migrants living abroad worldwide, new UN statistics reveal. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/01/244-million-international-migrants-living-abroad-worldwide-new-un-statistics-reveal/
- UNDESA. (2015). Trends in International Migration, 2015. PopulationFacts, No. 2015/4.

 División de Población del Departamento de Asuntos Económicos y Sociales de las

 Naciones Unidas. Retrieved from: http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/ publications/populationfacts/docs/

 MigrationPopFacts20154.pdfhttp:// www.un.org/en/development/desa/
 population/migration/publications/ populationfacts/docs/MigrationPo- pFacts20154.pdf
- UN General Assembly. (1948, December 10). *Universal Deceleration of Human Rights*. 217, A (III). Retrieved from http://www.un.org/en/universal-declaration-human-rights/index.html
- UNHCR. (2015). *Dominican Republic Urged Not to Deport Stateless Dominicans*. Received from http://www.unhcr.org/news/latest/2015/6/5584221a6/dominican-republic-urged-deport-stateless-dominicans.html
- United Nations Development Programme. (2015). *Human Development Report 2015: Work for Human Development*. Retrieved from http://report.hdr.undp.org

- Wooding, B., Moseley-Williams, R., and Catholic Institute for International Relations. (2004).

 Needed but unwanted: Haitian immigrants and their descendants in the Dominican

 Republic (CIIR briefing paper). Catholic Institute for International Relations.
- World Bank. (2016). *Dominican Republic Overview*. [Data file]. Retrieved from http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/dominicanrepublic/overview

APPENDIX A INTERVIEW GUIDE

	Appendix Three: Interview Guide (in English and Spanish)	
	Interviewee Pseudonym:	
	Date:	
	Place:	
	Interview Star	t: Finish:
	Comments on the Interview:	
1	A ma vyay ami air	cally from the Deminion Depublic?
1.	_	nally from the Dominican Republic?
	i.	Do you know people who live in the Dominican Republic but do not have
		citizenship?
	ii.	How does this affect their lives?
	iii.	How does the migration of Haitians to the Dominican Republic affect your
		life?
	iv.	How did the decision in 2013 affect your life?

106

v. How has the new process instituted in 2014 affected your life?

2. What do you do for a living?

- a. If employed:
 - i. How many days and hours do you work each week?
 - ii. Do you like your job and what is the most difficult part of your job?
- b. If no employment: have you ever been employed in the Dominican Republic?
- 3. Have you had other jobs? If so, what were they?
- 4. How many years of schooling have you completed?
- 5. Have you always lived in the Dominican Republic or have you lived elsewhere?
- 6. Do you have family members living in other countries?
- 7. What do you think about people from other countries living in the Dominican Republic?
- 8. What do you think about life in the Dominican Republic?
 - a. What is the most difficult about life here?
 - b. What is the best part about life here?
 - c. What problems do people living here have?
- 9. What is the most important development issue in the Dominican Republic?